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311 Court of Appeals.

— > D -

In General Term of the Supreme Court of the State 1
of New York, held in and for the Sixth Judicial Dis-
trict, at the Court House, in Delhi, in the County 'of
Delaware, on the 7th day of July, 1858. Present,

Justices Gray, Mason, Balcom, and Campbell.

SUPREME COURT.

THE PUOPLE |
Agt. isL 8
EDWARD H. RULLOFF. |

TP IYRCC" LN RGN 7T

At a Court of Sessions, holden at the Court House in
the town of Ithaca, in and for the County of Tompkins,
on the second day of June, in the year eighteen bund- 2
red and fifty six, before Hon. Samuel P. Wisne», Coun-
ty Judge, and Clinton Bowker and William P. Speed,
Justices of the Peace and members of said Court, in and
for the County of Tompkins:—

Tompkins County, ss:  The Jurors of the People of
the State of New York, in and for the body of the Coun-
ty of Tompkins, to-wit: Miles Brown, John L. Cuni-
mings, John Harrings, Benton Reed, George W. Dony,
Reuben Harvey, John Beardsley, Asa Fox, Lewis Han- 3
ford, Chandler L. Benson, Jehiel Norton; Abram Van
Ostrand, William Farrington, Asahel Harvey, Lafayette
Cutter, Henry Brewer, Charles M. Starr, N. J. Clark;
Peter Dubois and Joseph Esty, good and lawful men of
said County, then and there being duly sworn' and
charged to enquire for the People of the State of New
York, and for the body of the County aforesaid, upon
their oaths, present, that Edward H. Rulloff, late of
the town of Lansing, in said County of Tompkins, 4
heretofore, to-wit : On the 23d day of June, in the year
of our Lord, One thousand eight hundred and forty-five
at the town of Lansing, in the County aforesaid, with
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force and arms, 1n and upon one Rulloff, the
infant daughter of the said Edward H. Rulloff, whose
christian name is to the Jurors unknown, in the peace
of God and the People of the State of New York then
and there being, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice
aforethought, did make an assault; and that the said
Edward H. Rulloff, with a certain knife of the value of
5 six cents, which he, the said Edward H. Rulloff, in his
right hand then and there had and held, the said
Rulloff, infant daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, in
and upon the left side, between the short ribs of her,
the said Rulloff, infant daughter ot said Edward
H. Rulloff, then and there feloniously, wilfully, and of
his malice aforethought, did strike and thrust, giving
to the said Rulloff, infant daughter of the said
Edward H. Rulloff, then and there with the knife afore-
6 said, in and upon the said left side, between the short
ribs of her, the said Rulloff, infant daughter of
said Edward H. Rulloff, one mortal wound of the
breadth of three inches, and of the depth of six inches;
of which said mortal wound the said —— Rulloff, in-

fant daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, from the said
23d day of June in the year aforesaid, until the 24th

day of the same month of June in the year aforesaid,
did languish and languishing did live; on which said
7 24th day of June, in the year aforesaid, at the town
aforesaid, in the county aforesaid, of the said mortal
wound, said ——— Rulloff, infant daughter of the said
Edward H. Rulloff, died, and so the jurors aforesaid,
upon their oath aforesaid, do say, that the said Edward
H. Rulloff, the said Rulloff, infant daughter of said
Bdward H. Rulloff, in manner and form aforesaid, felo-
niously, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did
kill and murder, against the peace ot the People of the

8 State of New York and their dignity.
And the jurors aforesaid, upon their oaths aforesaid,
do further present, that Edward H. Rulloff, late of the
Town of Lansing, in said County of Tompkins, here-
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tofore, to wit: On the twenty-fourth day of June, in
the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
forty-five, with force and arms, at the town of Lansmg“.
in the county aforeﬂald in and upen one Rulloff,
the infant daughter of said Edward H, Rulloff, whose
christian name is to the juiors unknown, in the peace
of 'God and ' of the People of the State of New York
then and there being, feloniously, wilfully, and of his
malicé'afomthou:ght, did make an assault; and that the
said' Edward H. Rulloff, with both his hands and feet,
the said Rulloff, infant daughter of said Edward
H. Rulloff, to ‘and against the ground, then and there
feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice aforethought, did

cast and throw: and that the said Edward H. Rulloff, 10

with both the ‘hands and feet of him, the said Edward
H. Rulloff, then and there, and whilst the said Ru-
loff, infant daughter of said Edward H. Rulloft, was so
lying upon the ground, the said - Rulloff, infant

daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, in and upon (P

head, stomach, back and sides of her, thé said —— Rul-
loff infant daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, then
and there feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice afore-
thought "did strike, beat and kick, giving to the said
Rulloft, infant daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff. then
and there, as well by thé casting and throwing of her,
the said

Rulloff, infant daughter of said Edward

"11

H. Rﬁi]oﬂ'. tothe ground as aforesaid, as also by striking,

beating and kickingthe said
ter of said Edward H. Rulloff, in and upon the head,
stomach, back and sides of her, the said Rulloff,

infant daughter of sald Iidward H. Rulloff, with both the_'
hands and feet‘of him, the said Edward H. Rulloﬂ" In

manner &fOTBSrUd several mortal bruises in and upon
the head, qtomach back and sides of her, the said

Rulloff, infant daughter of said EdwardH Ruﬂoﬂ'f

of ‘Whith said several mortal bruises she, the said

Rullofl, infant daughter of said dward Il. Rulloff. t‘heﬁ“'

and there: instantly ' died; and sotthe Jurors aferesaid.

Rulloff, infant daugh-

12

13



upon their oath aforesaid. do say, that the sa:d Edward
H. Rﬁlﬂ@ff in manner and form aforesaid, feloniously,
wﬂfully, and of his malice aforethought, did kill and
murder, against the peace of the People of the State of
' Néw York and their dlgmty

“And the Jurors afOI'BS&Id upon their oaths aforesaid,
do further present, that Edward H. Rulloff, late of the
Town of Lansing in said County of Tompkms hereto-

14 fore, to-w1t On the twenty-fourth day of June, in the
ﬁve, w1th force and arms, at the Town of Lansing, in
the county aforesaid, in and upon Rulloff, the in-
fant daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, whose chris-
tian name is to the Jurors unknown, in the peace of
God and of the People of the State of New York then

and there being, felomously, wilfully, and of his malice
15 aforethought, did make an assault; and that the said

Edward H. Rulloff, a certain silk handkerchlef of the
value of one dollar, about the neck of her, the said
Rulloff, infant daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, then

and there feloniously, Wllfully, and of his malice afore-
thought did fix, tie and fasten ; and that the said Ed-

ward H. Rulloff, with the silk handkerchief aforesaid,
her, the said —— Rulloff, infant daughter of said Ed-
ward H. Rulloff, then and there feloniously, wilfully,

16 and of his malice aforethought, did choak, suffocate and

strangle——of which said choaking, suffocation and
Btranghng she, the said Rulloff, infant daughter of

said Edward H. Rulloff, then and there instantly died ;
and so the Jurors aforesaid, upon their oath aforesald
do say, that the said Edward H. Rulloff, the said —
Rulloff, infant danghter of said Edward H. Rulloff, in
mgnner and form aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully, and of
his mahce aforethought, did kill and murder, against
17 the peace of the People of the State of New York and
their dignity.
And the Jurors aforesaid, upon their oath aforesaid,
do further present, that Edward H. Rulloff, late of the
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Town of Lansing, in the County of Tompkins, 1ab019r,.
not having the fear of God before his eyes, but be‘muL
moved and seduced by the instigation of the devil, a,udt
of his malice aforethought wwkedly contriving and in-
tending one Rulloff, the infant daughtu of said
idward. H, Rull@ft Whoa,e christian name is to the 18
Jurors unknown, with pmson, wilfully, feloniously, and
of his malice cxf@rethought to kill and murder, on the
twenty ~third day. of June, in the year of our Lord ‘ne
thousand eight hundred and forty-ﬁve, with force and
armsg, at the town aforesaid, in the county aforesaid,
teloniously, wiltully, and ot his malice aforethought, a
large quantity of a. cer talin deddl} poison called arsenic,
to-wit: The q.uantli;) of two dhmhms of the q.:ud arsen- 19
ic, did_put, mix and mmgle into_and. with a certain
quantity of milk, which the said — Rulloff, mf.:mt
daughter, of sald Fd ward H. Rullott, was then and there
about - to drink, (th,e said Edward H. Rulloff then and
there well knowing that the said’ Rulloff, 1111.:111(:
danghter of said Edward H. Rnlloff intended and was
then about to drink the said milk—and the said BEdward
H Rullott then and there also well knowing the said
Arsenic, so as .:LfOledl[l by him put, mixed and mingled 20

immto and with the said wilk, to be a Lle..-ldlw. potson ;)
:and the said Rulloft, infant d: anghter of said Ed-
Wdl‘(l H. Rulloff; afterw ;mla, to-wit:  On the day and
vear aforesaid, at the town aforesaid, in the county
d'fOIebd-lld, did take, drink and swallow down a large
quantity, to-wit : Half a pint of the satd milk \i'it'h
which the said arsenic was s0 mixed and mmi_\le{l By
the said Edward 1. Rulloff, as aforesaid. (she, the L.:nd
Rulloff, infant daughter of said EBdward H.'Rul- 2]
loff, at the time she so took, drank and swallowed dowh
the said milk, not knowing there was any arsenic, or
any other poisonous or hurtful Illblt‘(llOllt mixed or
mingled with the said (11'1[1]1) hy mc.:nh whereof shd,
the said —— Rulloff, infant <L111;th£l of said lNdward
K, Rull{)f[', then and there hvulmf‘ sick’ An Htmtlx (ll‘»- |
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tempered in her body; and the said — Rulloff, infant
daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, of the poison afore-
22 gaid, so by her taken, drank and swallowed down as
aforesald and of the sickness 6ccasioned thereby, from
" the said twenty-third day of Juné in the year last afore-
said, until the twenty-fourth day of the same month in
the same year, at the town aforesaid, in the county
aforesald did languish and languishing did live; on
Whlch said twenty-fourth day of June, in the year afore-
said, at the town aforesaid, in the county aforesaid, the
said, —— Rulloff, mfant daughter of said Edward H.
23 Rulloff of the said poison died; and so the Jurors
aforesaid, upon thelr oaths aforesmd do say, that the
said Edward H. Rulloff, the said Rulloff, infant
daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, in manner and
form aforesaid, feloniously, wﬂfu]ly, and of his malice
aforethonght did kill and murder, against the peace of
the People of the State of New York and their dlgmty

'And the Jurors aforesaid, upon their oath aforeqald

do further present, that Edward H. Rulloff, late of‘tthe‘_

24 Town of Lansing, in the County of Fompkins, laborer,

- not having the fear of God before his eyes, but being

moved and seduced by the instigation of the devil, on

the twenty-third day of June, in the year of our Lord

one thousand eight hundred and forty-five, with force

and arms, at the town aforesaid. in the county aforesaid,

" in and upon one Rulloff, the infant daughter of

gsaid Edward H. Rulloff, whose christian name i1s to the

Jurors unknown. in the peace of God and of the People

25 of the State of New York then and there being. feloni-

mmly, wilfullv, and of his malice aforethought, did

make an assault ; and that the said Edward H. Rulloff,

with a certain weapon, to the Jurors aforesaid unknown,

of the value of six cents, which he, the said Edward H.

" Rulloff, in his right hand then and there had and held,

the said Rulloff, infant danghter of said Edward
H. Rulloff, in and upon the left side of the head, then

26 and there feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice afore-
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thought, did strike and thrust, giving to the said
Rulloff, infant daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff,
then and there with the weapon aforesaid, in and upon
the said left side of the head, one mortal wound, of
which said mortal wound the said Rulloft, infant
daughter of said Edward H. Rulloff, from the said,
twenty-third day of June in the year aforesaid, until
the twenty-fourth day of the same month, in the year
aforesaid, at the town aforesaid, in the county aforesaid;
did languish and languishing did live ;. on which said
twenty-fourth day of June,in the year aforesaid, the
Rulloft, infant daughter of said Edward H.
Rulloff, at the town aforesaid, in the county aforesaid
of the said mortal wound died ; and so the Jurors afore-
said, npon their oath aforesaid, do say, that the said
Edward H. Rulloff, the said - Rulloft, the ihfant

said

daughter of said Edward H. Rulloft, whose christian,

name is to the Jurors unknown, in manner and form
aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully, and of his malice atore-
thought, did kill and murder, against the peacé of the
People of the State of New York and their dignity.
JOHN A. WILLIAMS, District Attorney.

And afterwards, to-wit: on the 11th day of August,
1856; at a Court of Oyer and T'erminer, held in and tor
sald County of Tompkins, at the Court House, in the
village of Ithaca, present, W. H. Shankland, Justice,
Samuel P. Wisner. County Judge, Clinton Bowker and
Wm. P. Speed, associate Justices, the said Edward H.
Rullolf was arraigned upon said indictment and pleaded
thereto 1n the words and figunres tfollowing, to-wit :—

The said defendant, Edward H. Rulloti, says, that he
is not guilty of the crime of myrder whereof the said
defendant, is charged in said indictment; and thereupon

27

28

29

the said Court proceeded to empannel 4 jury to . try the .
1ssue «0 joined, but by reason that a fair and imlmrl-ial 30

trial of the said i1sue could not be had by Jury from
the said County of Tompkins, therefore the said defen-
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dant sued out of the Supreme Court of the State of New.
York the People’s writ of Certiorari, returnable atial
Special term of said Court, at Tthaca, in the County of
Tompkins, which said writ’ was in the words and ﬁg-;
ures following, to-wit : DL Y Dige doh
The People of the State of New York to our Justu.,a
31 and Judges assigned to hold our Court of Over and
Terminer in and for our County of Tompkins, and tor'

every of them, Greetmg
We being willing, for certain reasons, that all and

eingular indictments, records and proceedings whereof

Edward H. Rulloff stands indicted before you. be deter-
mined before our Supreme Court and not elsewhere, do

- command you and every one of you that you or one’ of
32 you do send under your seals or under the seal of one
of you, before our said Supreme ‘Court forthwith, at

Ithaca, in the County of Tompkins, all and singular the
said indictments, records and proceedmgq with all

things touching the same by whatsoever name the said
Edward H. Rulloff is called in the same, together with.

this writ, that we may further cause to be done therein
what of right and according to law we shall see fit to

be done.
TE'S | Wlfﬂ(‘au Wlllmm H. qhankland Jmtme, at
33 Ithaca, Aungnst 21, 1856. CHAS. G. DAY, Clerk.

Boarpman & Fiven, Defendant’s Att’ys.

Allowed, this 21st dav of Aucust, 1856.
W. H. SHANKLAND, Justice of Supreme Court. -
NVherehy the HH,E{] i:-l&-lllf‘- SO jni[md, was 1‘0[}10176(] intd
the said Supreme,Court. Therefore the issne =o joined is
ordered by the said Supreme Court, in Special Term as
aforesaid, to be tried at the Cirenit Court appointed to
be held at the Court House, 1n the village ' of Owego,
34 in and for the County of Tioga, on the 22d' day of Oc-

tober next.

And afterwardsg, to-wit: on the 13th day of Janus 'y,
1857, before the Justices of the Suprenie Court afoyre-
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sald, to-wit: Justices Gray, Mason and Balcom, at a
term of said Cuurt, held at the Court House, in the vil-
lage of Binghampton, in the County of Broome, came
the parties aforesaid, by their attorneys aforesaid, and
the Circuit Judge before whom the said issue was or-
dered to be tried, to-wit: the HOIL Charles Mason, 35
one of the Justices of the Supreme Court, had sent thith-
er his record, had before him, in these words, ‘to-wit :

“ Afterwards to-wit : at the day and place within con-
tained, before the Hon.Charles Mason, the parties with-
in named, the said Edward H. Rulloff, in person, and
by attorney, and the People by their attorney, and the
jurors of the jury whereof mention is within mfade,
being elected, tried and sworn upon their oaths, do say,
that the said defendant is guilty of the felony and mur- 36
der, whereof he stands indicted.”

To which trial, proceedings and conviction, the de-

- fendant’s counsel then and there made and tendered the
following bill of exceptions, to-wit:

SUPREME COURT.

THE PLOPLE |
Agt. ?
EDWARD H. RULLOFF.

The indictment in this cause for the murder of the in-
fant daughter of the defendant on the 23d of June,
1845, at Lansing,in the County of Tompkins, was found 37
at the June term of the Courtof Sessions, of said Coun-
ty, In 18566 ; and was sent to the Court of Oyer a,nd
Terminer, of said county, for trial. At the August
term of said Court, the defendant was arrigned and
plead not guilty to the said Indictment. The trial there-
of was moved and commenced when it was found that
an 1mpartial jury could not be obtained because prw;-
ous Opinions had been formed by the jurors called, upon
the question of the guiltor innocence of the defendant. 38
The cause was then removed into the Supreme Court
by certiorari, and by order of the said Court at, Speclal
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T?rm the place of trial was changed to the County of
Tioga. . ' b

| The cause was brought to trial at a Circuit Court
held at thef Court House in said county of Tioga, mj
the 28th day of October, 1856, before the Hon. Charles
Mason, one of the Justices of the Supreme Court, and

~ajury of said County of Tioga. |

39 The Counsel for the prosecution in opening the cause
to the Court and jury stated in detail the facts and cir-
cumstances he expected to prove and should rely upm}
to establish the guilt of the defendant, and on which
the jury would be asked to find the death of the infant
daughter, and that she was murdered by the defendant
And in answer to an i,nq;uii*y made by the dqfend@nt’s
counsel, he stated that he did nbﬁ expect or propose to

- prove by any direct evidence that the infant daughter
40 was dead or had been murdered, or that her dead body
had ever been found or seen by any one; but that from
“the lapse of time since the child and her mother, the
def’t’s wife. had lLeen last seen on the 23d day of June.
1845, and from the other facts and circumstances he
had stated in his opening, he should ask the jury to in-

for and presume and find that the infant daughter was

dead, and that she was murdered by the defendant.

Hereupon the counsel for the defendant moved and
41 insisted that the Court should arrest the farther pro-
gress of the trial for the want of proof of the corpus
delicti; that the rule laid down by Lord Hale that “no
person should be convicted of murder or man-slaungh-
ter unless the fact were proved to be done, or at least
the body found dead.” is the rule universally acted up-

“on by our courts, and should never be departed from.
His honor the said justice decided that the most ju-
dicious disposition of the qustion now raised was to
reserve it until the close of the evidence that he might

42 see what would be proved.
| The counsgel for®the pmse’cuticm then called and had

aWworrI,
Ephraim Schutt, who testified as follows :
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I live in the town of Dryden. I lived there in 1843
and ’45. 1 had a sister by the name of Harriet, who
was afterwards Mrs. Rulloff. My father’s family lived
in that town. First knew defendant in May 1842. He
said he came from New Brunswick. Said he was a
German. Spent part of the Summer there. He was
engaged on the canal at the time. The next winter he
taught school. My sisters Jane and Harriet attended
his school. The summer following he studied medicine
and afterwards practised it. He married my sister

43

Harriet the last day of December, 1843. That mar-

riage was not much opposed by the family. The first
winter they spent mostly at my father’s.

Did they live happily together * (Objected to—ob-
jection overruled.) Defendant excepted.

There was some difficulty between them, but I never
witnessed any I once heard her crying in a room;
went into the room; they were all there together. 1
asked him ( Rulloff ) why he treated his wife so He
made no particular reply. I said to hun his conduct
was very strange and asked him if he could not con-
duct himself in a different manner, and his wife was
‘not agreeable, to leave her to us, but otherwise to
stay. He finally concluded to stay. This was in the
winter following their marriage. Don’t know of Any

other interviews in which there was difficulty.

William H. Schutt, sworn. 1 am a brother of last
witness. I never was present at any difficulties hetween
‘him and his wife. Some six months after his marriage
I talked with defendant. He had left his wife once or
twice He said he disliked Dr. Bull and couldn’t bear
to have him near his wife. Complained that Dr. B. had
kissed his wife. Bull was his wife’s cousin. - This wag
their first meeting atter the marriage. This conversa-
tion was on our way to 1thaca. He said he didn’t think
his wife had any mtercourse with Dr. B., but he hated
him. At anothér time he said (the same ¢vening) pret-
ty much the same thing as betore.  He then said be

44

45

16
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_ thought Dr. Bull and his ‘wife had had intercourse to-
gother. Said he thought he should leave her. That
47 evening he thought he would go back to her. Was
present when Dr. Bull made his first visit to Mrs. Rul-
loff. My smter Jane was present. My wife was pres-
ent. Think Dr. Bull kissed them all ‘around.
 Cross examined. Ilived at Ithaca. Had‘hved there
from January 1, 1844, with my family. This was my
second or third visit after my marriage ; I was married
- the next day after Rulloff; went to Ithaca three or four
~ days after my marriage. Dr. Bull lived 3 1-2 ' miles
48 from my father’s. He was very intimate and often
there; was a single man. Sometimes he was there
every week and sometimes not for 4 month. 1 have to
guess at the time of the kissing. 1 have no knowledge
myself how often Bull had been there before ; the time
I saw the kissing was 1n January, 1844. : That winter
visited home often. Ithacais 7 or 8 miles from my
father’s. Dr. Bull kissed my wife and Rulloff’s wife.
Didn’t kiss my mother or sister Jane. It was towards

49 evening that Dr. Bull came in. Rulloff left that night.
Didn’t then hear him say what for. ‘He came back the

next morning. Can’t say that Bull was there when he
‘returned. [ left Rulloft there. No difficulty after he
returned that day. Saw R. and his wife together.—
Can’t say what time of day I left ; it was in the after-
noon ; my wife went with me. Can’t say when I saw
defendant next. He was often down to Ithaca that
50 winter. Think at this time he was living in Ithaca; at
the time I have been speaking of.  He was clerking it

a month or two months. While he was a elerk his wife
lived with him in Ithaca. In a few days after his mar-
riage moved with his wife to Ithaca. He hoarded at
Mrs. O’Brien’s. 1 boarded there too.  Know of no dif-
ficulty at that time. They appeared to be happy. At
the time of the kissing Mr. and Mrs. Rulloff were up
“home on a visit. Don’t know how I and my wife weng
D1 up. Think it was in a sluigh. M_y wile returned with .



13

me. Can’t’ say that Mr. or Mrs:' R. returned with ‘mé.
This interview of which I have spoken ‘was’ some*six
months after the marriage. At that interview we 'were
coming down to Ithaca on horseback. Defendant was'
then living at my father’s. During the six months he
was part of the time in a store at Ithaca and partup to
Dryden. When he left Tthaca he took his wife to her
father’s, 'This was in the fore part of March ‘or Febru-
ary. Icontinued at Ithaca. Hetaught school the néxt 52
fall after his marriage. He'worked on the canal before
he came to fathei’s.  What 1 miean is that he cameup on’

a boat on the canal with my brother: Afterwards went
back on to the boat. Came to my father’s in spring of
1842.. Can’t say how long he worked for my' brother.
He returned again on the boat and then went to work

on my father’s farm. I first went to Ithaca in 1835.
Since then have lived there most of the time. @ He
taught school some 1n the fall or winter of 1842 ; it was 53
a select school. Taught school summer of 1843 'six or
eight miles from my father’s: My sister attended ‘that
school the first winter tfor'4 or 6 months. Think that
winter 1 first heard that Rulloft’ was attentive to my sis-
ter. Think his attentions continued thro’out the sum-
mer. It was December following she was married;
then between 18 or 20 years of age. 'We were on our
road to Ithaca when Rulloff said he didn’t believe there
was any improper intercourse; it was in summer about: 54
six months' after their marriage. Just before he had-
left my sister to stay away, from her. Don’t positively
relect that Rulloff said so. He remained in Ithaca 201

3 days. Boarded at Mrs. O’Briens. She lived:in Ith-
aca. Then he went back to father’s. [ saw him next
morning at my father’s. Then he and I came back to-
gether to Ithaca. That was the tifne whén hesaid he
didn’t believe there had been any improper intercourse
between his wife and Dr. Bull. Before this interview 55
he sald he thought there had beenillicit intercourse
between his wife and Dr. Bull.  Can’t tell where nor:
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when this interview was. He expressed himself that
tbere was an intimacy. Rulloff began to keep house in:
the fall of 1844 in Lansing and 80 continued to next
June, near Mr. Robertson’s. 1 was there at the house
once. They were hiving pleasantly. Saw them often

~ down to Ithaca together. Think once they stayed all
56 night. I theught he was a good provider for his family.
Re-direct. Once Ri.and his wife came to my_house
with his child, at [thaca. R. sat at the window looking
out and took up the child and told Harriet to go with
him, he didn’t want her to meet Dr. Bull. He sat the
child down. I then said I was tired of hearing about
these troubles and  if he couldn’t omit the subject 1
didn’t want him tocome. My child died 3d June, 1845,

57 and my wife bth. |
Re-Cross-examied. Bull- came to my house the day
Rulloff was there. He didn’t see Rulloff and his wife
at all. Defendant was in the parlor when he took up

the child. |
Jane Schutt sworn. Am a sister of the late Mrs. Rul-
loff. Lived at home at the time of her marriage. Not

long after the marriage they had a difficulty. Dr. Bull
came to the house on an errand and Mr. Rulloff left,

58 I didn’t see any tronble except that R. left. Bull came
for a wheel-barrow. Rulloff stayed away till the next
day. Didn’t hear R. then say anything to his wife, but.
have heard him say he wished her never to see and
speak with Bull. They had frequent difficulties about
Dr. Bull ; can’t mention times. Don’t know of any
other cause of difficulty. Once in January or February
after the marriage my sister was pounding peppers and
didn’t pound it fine énough to suit him. He proposed

59 to do it for her; she poured it back again, and he trie(
to get the pestle, and she said she would prau_l'ld-it ; he
snatched the pestle and hit her on the forehead ; sho
carried the mark for some days. Rulloff left her once
or twice while ghe was at my father’s. . Shortly after
their marriage they went to Ithaca. After that re-
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turned and were again at my father’s—then went to
Langing. Part of the time for 2 or 3 months . they
roomed at a widow’s near father’s. When they first

went to Lanbmg lived in Mr, Bright’s house. In April, 60

1845, moved to the one near Robertson’s. Went to the
W 1dow 3 1n the summer.

Cross-examined, I went to Rullofi’s. school. - I '&n_:{:,
older than Mrs.:Rulloff. My sister was 20 when mar-

ried. Didn’t see Rulloff leave the house when Bull
came for the wheel-barrow ; did not see him immedi-
ately.on his return. I don’t think the pepper was a
playful matter ; didn’t hear any angry words at the
time. Can’t say what he said except that the pepper
wasn’t pounded fine enough. He drew the pestle from
her and struck her; it was a marble pestle ; I think it
was a4 hard blow ; it knocked her back several steps.
He made some apologies; he said he didn’t intend to

strike her so hard ; he appeared shocked and surprised
that he had hit her.so hard.  She insisted that he dldi
it on purpose. 1 was at their h(mw at the widow’s and

in Lansing. ~ He provided tolerable ; made her some
presents ;-lived happily at tines—at times not. Once
at.my father’s house he began to pack up things to leave
her ; took up her wedding dress and said he wouldn’t
leave 1it, for 1n three weeks she would have it on and be
with Dr. Bull. He went away ; took nothing with him.
Very soon my father turned hnm away out of doors.—
Don’t think Rullolf was ever in wmy tather’s house again.
In a few days his wife went with him; he met her;
went to the widow’s, Stay ed two or three lllOllthH—-—

61

62

They set their own table. From there they went to 63

Lansing ; 1 was there th{,y kept house there. Was'
there the last of April or first of May; 1t was two weeks

0] lexs ditel he1 Llllld was b(}]n 11} wdas bOl 1 API l]. 121311
“or 13th. Rt.-_-l,yed there about two Weeka. |

Hannah Schutt, sworn. Am mother of Mrs. Rulloff
ahe was married on Sunday, and they went. the sanlﬂ
day to William’s wedding.  Remained a 111011[311 or ::0
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at Ithaca, then came back. I saw that she was unhap- -
64 py. Heard no conversation between them that I can
relate. William’s wife died on the 5th and his child on
the 3d. On the 4th June when Rulloff was about leav-
ing, he said that if William’s wife and child died, he
might thank himself for it, and we were little aware of
the judgments that were coming on our family. Rul: -
loff and his wife came to our house in May, 45, stayed -
about three weeks; went back to' Lansing June 16. A .
few days after they came home, William came; said his
65 wife was'sick and wanted him to-visit her. The next
day'RuIIfo ‘wanted me to go and take care of her; said .
he supposed I felt anxious for her to get well. Then
Rulloff said William had misused him, and it was whol-
ly indifferent to him whether she got well—that Will~ -
iam had misused him about Dr. Bull, and that thing
would yet mount up to the shedding of blood. On the
way to William’s, he said it was strangethat I had rais-
ed so many children without losing 'any, but my gray
66 hairs would yet go down in sorrow to the grave. He
said William’s wife and child have gone. Who will go
next? He said then Harriet and her babe would go
next. Tbis was the 5th of June, 1845. Said William

had misused him a short time before he was called to
prescribe for the wife.

Cross-examined. William’s child was three months
old or more when it died. Dr. Bonney had attended
her for Rullaff. The child was taken with convulsions

67 Rulloff was called to William’s wife who was sick first

She went into decline and had a cough. She was sick
about two weeks. She had been usually smart, but took
cold. She never recovered her health after her child

was born; was imprudent in going out too soon. I
went to William’s Saturday ; his wife died Thursday. I
I was at home when Rulloff was tried before. Was not
then sworn ; didn’t go to Court at all. Don’t know Why.
I knw of the trial. I informed the family of this con-

68 versation shortly after it occurred. Can’t say that I
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have told anybody but my family. I have told it to
Dr. Bull’s mother. Can’t say when. I told my family
of it before the other trial. | e
Harriet Ackerman, sworn. Knew My, and Mrs. Rul-
loff. - Boarded at Mrs. O’Brien’s while they were there.
It was the summer after their marriage. They had 69
some difficulty about Williams going to Jefferson and
not getting home in time. He wanted Mary Schutt to
o0 home 9 or 10 miles a-foot. She was 11 years old.
Mrs. Rulloft said she shouln’t. After dinner they went
upstairs ; | heard a noise, went up. . Mrs. Rulloff stood
by the foot of the bed with a pillow before her mouth,
and he had a phial in his hand. He said the d—n bitch
was going to poison herself. He wasn’t near her. = She
raid, O, Edward, ain’t you ashamed of yourself! Mrs.
Rulloft asked me why I didn’t go to my shop. I went 70
down stairs and started to go ; went back into the room;
then went out again and met Mrs.. O’Brien and others
going up. They had some words.  He wasn’t trying
to do anything. I heard something like a blow: At
this time Mrs, Rulloft put her hand on his head and said,
you’re mine forever, dear Kdward, wl]-ethexr-ym_l,_liir_e
with me or not. Hethrew the phial outof the window.
That niglit he took them home. _
Cross-examined.  She said she didn’,t want me to hear
the difficulty. - Was not sworn on the other trial. Hdd
mentioned this before. 1 saw the phial thrown out of
the window, and the hand placed on the head. ,Saw
nothing else. 1 boarded with Mrs. O’Brien 6 months.
Rulloff got a horse and carriage and. took them away.
They never came back there again. I am now 29 years
old. 1 was then talloring. 1 lived at the time of the
trial 7'miles from Mrs. (’Brien’s. I had gome home
before the last trial.  After that Mr. and Mrs. R. lived 72
together. at Schutt’s and, in . Lansing. Mrs.. Rullof‘f
wasn’t hurt then that [ know of. . No personal viglence
was used that I saw. At times they seemed to_live
very happy=—he did every thing he could for Der.. _,.;-}\(T';{S
at Ithaca last August. '

~J
e
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Jane O’ Brien, sworn. 1 kept the boarding house spo-
ken of. Mr. and Mrs. R. were with-me off and on.
When they first got back from Jefferson 1t seems that
the minister kissed both the brides. He (R.) said if he
was a woman he would murdeér a minister before. he
would permit him to kiss her. Said he didn’t believe
in ‘such habits!’ ‘Afterwards they went to a shilling
party and the minister kissed his wife again. This was
about a week after. He was very angry ; said he would
never take her any where again ; she went without a meal
for two days. About three weeks after the marriage Dr:
Bull called—kissed Mrs. Schutt and Mrs. Rulloff and Mr.
Schutt. Rulleff got up aud left the table. He came
down stairs and went away.’ He didn’t come back to

dinner. Bull had then gone. Rulloff came back in a
little while and went up stairs ; then came down ; then

we—William’s wife and I—went up and found her sob-
bing. The last of 'April or 1st of May, William went
to Jetterson and stayed longer than Rulloff wished.—
the latter was angry. R. was determined that the
child should go home on foot and pushed it towards the
stairs.  Mrs. R. followed to the stairs. 1 heard some-
thing like a blow. As I went up I saw her and she
sald O, Jane, come up quick! Mrs. R. said Edward is
going’ to make me take poison and take it himself. They
were clinched together. He had the bottle in his hand
and T and she tried to take it away. I took hold of her.
He said by the living God this poison will kill both of
us in five minutes and that would put an end to their
troubles. He saw they were getting the better of him
and he threw it ‘out’ of the Window. Then they got
over the excitement and he began to twit her about
Bull and she dropped on her knees and said, O, Edward,
I am innocent as an unborn child. He struck her in
the face and said get away, G—d D—-n you ; you know
better than to come nedr me when I am angry as I am
now. '

The blow knocked her over; she looked very red in
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the face. He then told her she could go and live with
Dr: Bull and seek all the pleasure she wmhud to, for he
dido’t want to' live with her ‘any more.” He charged
her with sexual improprieties.  His language was pret-
ty broad. That was about all that was said.” 1 advised
him to go away and leave her. Rulloft'said that before
he would leave her to another he would serve her as
Clark did his wife. Clark murdered his wife. Said
Clark was a gentleman, and he would chop her as fine
a3 mince meat. That night he carried' them back.—
T'wo or three days afterwards he said he was' going af-
ter his wite’s clothes, that no other man should have
them ; he didn’t get them. He came in about 12 at
night and sat down with a letter from William Schutt
in his hand, and said" he sometimes felt like destroying
the whole family and then being hung like an honest
man as Clark was. Clark was hung some 26 years ago.
~ Cross-examined. Lived in Ithaca. Am not a wid-
ow ; my husband now lives there. I am a cousin of the
Schutt children, 1 was sworn on the former trial.—
Didn’t tell all of this story before. The pmt 1 told be-
fore was the difficulty about the girl, the sister, at my
house ; that was about all. Was examined about five
minutes. They told e I needn’t tell all then—rthat
was before the trial. I met Mrs. Ackerman as [ went,
up stairs. She turned and followed me up. Was up
there by the time I got there. Some of the time they
lived very quietly ; he was clerk in Hale’s store.  After
that first difficulty she never appeared a8 oheerf'dllla;,s
usual. Used to go home together t'leql_iently These
were all the difficulties I saw between them. The one
occasion as to the sister was all 1 mentioned beiole

Garrett Van. Pelt sworn, I knew Rulloff and his wife
and Dr. Bull. Think in June or July, 1844, had a con-
versation with Rulloff. He told me he saw Dr, Bull
and his wite at the mill ; this was before his marriage

or after, as he said, and [ can’t now say w hlch He -

18
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80

said he heard them Ld“«luﬂ l,u“fLIlu » that Bull mid bl
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Harriet you have been seduced, and I think you might
be agam that she turned it off with a laugh and didn’t
appear to resent it at all. I told him I had always
known Harriet and thought her discreet. At another
time Rulloff said, Gerritt don’t you see her life 1s in my
hands ? s re | | |
Cross-exammed The.ﬁrs_t conversation was in Dryf-
den, near Mr. Schutt’s. The mill was close to Schutt’s
house. “Seduced” was not exactly the word he used.
I can’t recollect whether he said they were married at
the time I spoke of or not. . W o
Thomas Robertson, sworn. Lived in Lansing in 1845,
and live there now. Knew defendant and family.—
Live on. the middle road 5 miles north from Ithaca.

- For a few weeks he and I lived near each other, a scant

mile. and a half from the lake, His house was on the
corner opposite mine. I was on the west side of the

road ; def'endant on the east side, but the width of the

83 road north A part of thetime they, as was said, were

at Mrs. Rulloff’s father’s. His family consisted of a

Wlfe and female child. In June, ’44 or 5, Rulloff called
on me for a horse and ‘wagon, between 10 and 11 o’-

cl ock He wanted a wagon to carry a chest of his un-
cle’s to Mottville. Think but am not certain that he
named, his uncle as Boyce. Mottville is 8 or 10 miles

from my place. I let him have the horse and wagon
but relucta,ntly, _beca,use it was an extreme hot day.

84 He came for the horse a few minutes after twelve He

took dinner with us. Just after dinner my son and he
‘oot the horse and went to his, Rulloff’s door. Isaw

‘them there and went over, and just as I got there de-

fendant was pushing a chest twards the door, and took

‘hold of it to put it in the wagon. I said shall I help

}7011 load 1t? He said 1f' you plea,%e sir. ~ T'did'it, dnd
‘he'went in the hofise le'wmg the door about 1-3 open.
T'thovéd “the Horse “across the stréét ‘into the shade.

85 S’ubséqﬁently he 'drove off. The end of the chest was

‘héavier than if filled with ordinary c,lofhm;; My end
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wde"ighed about 60 or 70 pounds. A part of this build-:
ing had been previously used for a store—the windows ¢
had tight shutters. They were sometimes shut and::
sometimes open. The south windows were closed ; and: !/
one-half of one towards me was open; ain not positive
about this.  He'went directly south on the road to Mott«.
ville. " That road did not communicate with the lake .
except by other cross-roads that he could have taken. 86
There are woods upon' these roads going to thedlake.
After I hitched the horse R.came out with a flour sack
or pillow case -about 1-3 full and put it into the wagon.
Have not seen the family since. ' He brought the horse -
and wagon 'back ‘about 12 the mnext'day. 'The horse.
didn’t seem to have been driven——wasn't sweaty ; it was .
as hot 4 day as the one previous. He took dinner with

us that day.’ At 3 or 4 P..M. I saw Mr. Rulloff going
towards Mottville or Ithaca with a bundle in his hand. 87
Bundle was tied up in a reddish shawl or handkerchief.

Cross-examined.  Think when I came back I noticed ;.
the horse—not near——nothing that surprised me.  We
shoved the chest over the side of' the wagon. I lifted
with one hand, the wagon was near the shop. The chest
was shoved into the wagon without anybody getting in.
The south shutters'were sometimes closed to keep the
sun out, when the family were at home. Thé chest was.
about as heavy as it 'stowed with books. He had a li- 88
brary; box wouldn’t have held all; afterwards some,
most of them were gone.

Elizabeth. Robertson,  Am wite of last witness.,  Saw
Mrs. Rulloff last, June, 24, day before he got the horse !
and wagon. She took some soap home with her and
said she’ would wait till the next day before she washed.
This was about 9 in the morning. = She wasat my house; .
that P M., had her child with her. Have not seen hep,. -
since. The shutters that day that he took' away. the 89
chest, were closed ; continued ' so till he went away in
the P. M. They wereall shut till he started to go away,
and then he opened one. T gaw they were shut in the
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morning, and spoke of 1t. This was unusual. He came
to our house between 10 or 11, and asked for a horse
and wagon to go after his wife. Said his uncle came
there the last night and left a chest there to make room
in his wagon for his (R’s) wife, and took the wife to
Henry Snyder’s. He, Snyder, was not an uncle ; lives
in Dryden 3 miles off. He wanted to take the chest to
Mottville. I referred him to my husband. R. then
wont Ito his house. Had seen the chest he took away
before. It belonged in the family; had been there ever
since they kept house. Defendant’s child was a daugh- |
tor about two months old. The morning when Mrs. R.
came for soap, she had a calico dress on ; dark; sleeves

torn off above the elbow. Noticed a ring on ber finger

that afternoon that I had never seen before. It was a
valuable ring withasettin it. R.took dinner with us both

days. Mrs. R. usually wore a large woolen shawl, white
and black, small check, when she travelled ; saw R. the
next day when he was going south ; had this same shawl
tiad full and on his back ; was going south. [ asked
where his wife was. He said she’d gone between the
lakes. I asked him when he was agoing to bring his
wife back. He said in 3 or 4 weeks—maybe never—
Have seen that callico washing dress since ; went in the
house with the family of Qehutts 3 or 4 weeks after-
wards : went with others. I saw that wash-dress lying
ot the foot of the bed on the floor. It lay on the tloor
in a heap. Saw someshoes and stockings. Know they
were Mrs. Rulloft’s that she had worn the day betore.
They were before the bed on the floor. Saw & skirt 1n
another room hung up. Part of the bed was’on a chair;
bed was not made. Saw her travelling basket there,

93 which she carried when she travelled; she had but one.

Qaw a small pair of child’s socks in the basket., Saw
the dirty clothes inthe wash room. The soap had been
emptied out of the tin pail into a wooden pail. Some

of the table dishes were on the table. _
Cross-examined. Had known them from October till
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_Mia,rch. They then lived 1n Bright’s house 1-2 mile off.

Mr. and Mrs. R. were always very kind to each other

when 1 saw them. They had lived opposite our house
two or three months, Moved there in July; couldn’t

94

say how the shutters were when they came there ; they

never shut the windows when they went away ; they
wan’t shut very often. Didn’t mention about the win-

dows when sworn before. Did speak of the shawl then ; 3

recollect that I did. There are two rooms; a bed room
in the house, also a clothes-press; the kitchen was the

largest room, and bed was there. The wash room was

back of the house. Mrs. Rulloff was then in good
health. In the afternoon when she called she had not
the washing dress on ; she was dressed up. She wore
several dresses at diflerent times. Before she went
home she said Edward was away, and she shouldn’t
wash till he came back to carry water. The first day
he said his wife had gone to Snyder’s. 1 have forgot-

95

ten how I testified as to the second conversation on the
former trial Can’t say what day of the week it wags

that she borrowed soap. It was not Monday, it was
Tuesday or Wednesday. The night of the day she
came for soap, I heard a double lumber wagon turn
around to Mr. Rulloft ’s house, and heard it start away
again in 15 or 20 minutes. It was between 8 or 9 o’-
clock ; it was between 10 or 11 o’clock ; it went south.
Can’t say who was in 1t or how ma;ny" Remember to
have heard Rulloff’s door shut after the wagon left:

96

closed my door at the saine time. Can’t recollect that>"

the Wagon went cast. Haven’t conversed with any oue'

about the way the wagon went. Have heard that Dr.
Burdick drove that way within a year. It was a dark
night ; don’t know whether it was [IIO(IUllgjht The wag-
on stood hitched on the east road between Rulloff’s

and Field’s. Heard it ¢ty around ; can’t say Which
way, south or east ; it drove off. Mrs. Rulloff that af-
ternoon stayed to tea. Didn’t see Rulloff When he lp_

97

turned with the wagon. We dined about 12 can’t_say .:
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hOW soon after he Wént aWﬁV The Iil]g wasn’t f,aken -
off at our house. I spoke of it as she was wiping dish-
es. It was all of' siX weeks af'ter Mrs. Rulloff ’S dlsap-
pearance that we went there, The blinds were on the
west and south 3 or 4 wmdows had blinds. There
were. no east nor north wmdows Noticed the blinds
were closed in the, morning of the day when he went
off w1th the cheqt One blind was open when he came
w1th the wagon. ‘This was the first time I had seen
the blinds closed. ' o

Re-direct. This wagon came close to Rulloff’s. Field
lived a short distance off. '

Re-examined. This shawl was a winter shawl.. Don’t
know that she had another. In travelling in the mght

in J une she would usually have worn it.
Dr Joim F. Bu?'dzck, ‘sworn. Reside in Lansmg < |

am a physmlan practice there. I visited a patient at

~ Mr. Field’s about the time of the disappearance of Mrs.

100
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Rulloff. I visited her in the night with a horse and
subkey or Buggy. Fields isabout 3 rods from Rulloff’s.

I came between. 8 or 9 o’clock, and hitched my horse
oppoalte the east end of Rulloff’s house, and went to

Field’s house and stayed till about 11 o’clock. I went
and unhitched my horse and drove up east towards
Mrs. Fields to talk with her, and then turned around
and went west to the middle roads, and then drove south
home. I heard Robertson’s and Rulloff’s doors close
as I was turning my horse to go home.
Cross-examined. I was at Fields 2 or 3 hours. It
was on the 23d of J une that I was there. Thlﬂk 1t Was
on Monday, the night, there were some squaws in .the
neighborhood. I conversed with Mrs. Field’s . before I
turned around, and when I turned around I went di-
rectly home. B e AT =
Olive Robertson, sworn. . I am a daughter of Thomas
Robertson. Iremember the time the squaws were there;

102 I was at home that night ; Rulloff was at our house.

He told me to o0 to his house, that his wife might be
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afraid if she knew that Indians were there. I stayed
till 9 o’clock and went heme. Mrs. Rulloff was holding
her child in her lap when I went away. Nobody else

was there when 1 Wwas first there till defendant came

with the Indians with him ; Indians stayed a short time,.
While. . they were there, defendant showed Mrs. Rulloff
and myself the jewelry and moccasins the Indians had

with them. Defendant then gave the Indians somethmg 103

I thought was money. After the Indians left, I think I
saw him stirring something.in a tea cup; think he

sayed it Was composition tea ; he was stirring it with a_

spoon 1n; a tea cup. Never saw Mrs. Rulloff or child
since.

Cross-examined. Defendant told me to go to his

house, that Mrs. Rulloft would be afraid alone, if she

knew Indians were in the neighborhood. There were

two _of them ; no children ; wore blankets and head-
dresses.

John W. Gibbs, sworn, 1 live in Lansing. I knew de-
fendant in ’45. About the time his wife dlsa,ppeared

defendant qtopped as he was going north with Robert-
son’s horse and wagon and a chest in it. It was about
12 o’clock. He drove at a moderate. galt as usual. 1

live .about-80 rods south of Rrbertson’s. saw, Rulloft
again between 2 and 3 P. M ; he was.on foot some 10

or 15 rods from me. He S&ld good bye, pap; that he

and his wife was going to visit between the lakes 5"0r 6.

weeks, and would visit me when he came back. He
had a bundle, and was going west towards [thaca.

Cross-examined. Defendant always treated his mfe_
friendly so far as we knew ; we visited back and forth.

Eljah Labay, sworn. 1 reside. in Ithaca, 1 1-2 to 2
miles south of Robertson’s. Kiiew defendant in ’45.
Remember the time of his wife’s disappearance. Saw
him pass my house with Robertson’s horse and wagon
about 2 o’clock P M. ; wag a chest in the wagon.. Heg
was alone ; he was going south. The road led to Mott-
ville and Varna.

104
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Newton Robertson, sworn. T am son of Thomas Rob--
ertson. Defendant had father’s horse and wagon. I
steadied one end of the chest in the wagon when it was
loaded. Defendant and father had hold of the chest.
Rulloff returned next day with a chest; T didn’t help

107 lift chest out or lift it after it was out. I think it was
the same chest that went away. He got back some
- time in the forenoon. I believe Rulloff took it out him-

self without difficulty ; it did not seem heavy.
Crossexammed I looked at the chest and thought

it was the same one. I did not examine it to see i1f it

was the same or another chest. 1 saw Rulloff take it
out of the wagon in front of his house before the horse

was taken from wagon. . | |

108  Henry Snyder, sworn. I live in Dryden, 3 to 4 miles
from Robertson’s. I ammnot related to the Schutts ; my

- son is; no other Snyder is related tothem. The family

usually call me uncle Henry. I did not carry, in 45,
Mrs. Rulloff to my house; she was not at my house in
June or July, ’45. Don’t know about her going to Mott-
ville or bétween the lakes. I never left a chest at Rul-

loff’s or anywhere else.
 Cross-examined. I did not see Mr. or Mrs. Rulloff

109 alone that time. There is no other Henry Snyder in
the neighborhood. 1 have 5 or 6 brothers; 6 sons.

Emm’y Boyce, sworn. 1 live in Caroline. Mottville
is about 1 mile west of my house. My wife and Mrs.
Rulloff are cousins ; visited together before her mar-
riage. Mrs. Rulloff was not at my house in June or
July,,'1845, nor was defendant. Defendant and wife
were at my house in ’44. No chest was left at my house
in 1845 by Mr. Rulloff or any other one ; know nothing

110 about any chest. '

Jane Schutt, re-called. About the time of my sister’s
disappearance, defendant was at Ithaca the day after
the "Indians were there, 24th of June. It was before
noon ; don’t know how he came. He said he and Har-
riet were going away out between the lakes; that a
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family visiting in Lansing had advised him to go-that he
thought he should go and stay 5 or 6 weeks, and might
return. He said he was hungry ; would not wait for me

to get him something to eat, but went down to the cel- 111
lar and eat ravenously, taking his tood into his hands.

I understood his wite was at home then. I gave him
some of William’s babe clothing ; he first objected to
taking 1t, but finally did so. He stayed 1-2 an hour;
sald he was going back home. Saw him again the same
day in the afternoon, near 5 o’clock. I said, I thought

you were gone toletween the lakes. He said the fam-

ily with whom he was going would not go till next day,

and he came to have us tell uncle William™Schutt, at” 112
Mottville, that he could not go and deliver a lecture up
there. He stayed 2 hours; said he was going with that
tamily on the morrow. Mrs. Rulloff had a ring with a

sett in 1t; she had had it several years. After tea he
said, don’t my face look red ? I said it did. He said

he had walked 5 miles very fast, and 1t made his face
red. He then read the Mysteries of Paris and com-
menced weeping ; said he never could read that part of

the book without crying. After that he took out the 113
ring from his pocket and asked William if he remem-
bered it. William said he did, he gave 1t to his sister
years ago. Defendant said, don’t you want it? Will-
1ain sald no, give it back to your wife. Defendant said

his wife gave it to him while at her fathers, a number

of weeks before, and he had carried it since. A box is
shown witness, which she says defendant made at her
father’s house ; and witness recognized a bead work box,
wrought collar, belt, wristletts, as articles that belonged 114
to Mrs. Rulloft; recognizes pieces of silk as the same as

her wedding dress, also the hose she thinks, but not the
elastics, cotton hose worked with silk, also a card en-
graved “KEdward H. Rulloff.” I went to the house after

the disappearance ; saw some articles I recognized, a
delaine dress, calico wash-dress, quilted skirt, shoes and
stockings; cant say where the skirt was; think there
were elastics with shoes and stockin oS,
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Cross-examined. I was examined 11 years ago. 1
was then examined mostly about the striking; think I
did not testify about the conversation at William’s on
24th June I had not kept those facts secret ; have told
them to William ; he was sworn on the other trail. I
think I did not swear about the ring ; think brother
William did. I recollect most distinctly the piece of
wedding gown, the wrought collar and wristletts.

William H, Schutt, sworn, 1 remember Rulloff at my
house the day after the disappearance; I saw him at
tea. He spoke of his face burning, asked if it didn’t look
red, said he had walked some ways. After tea he took
the ring out of the vest pocket ; he asked if I recog-_
nized the ring. I said it was one that I gave his wite
geypra,l___ Vaars &g()- He | S&id, don’t you W&Dt to take it
back? I said no, give it back to your wife. He put
the ring back, said he had carrid 1t since his last visit
at my father’s. My sister usually wore tha%ring. He
said he was. going between the lakes next morning ;
should take his wife along ; that he had some prospect
of getting In 'b:usi__ness_., He stayed till after tea and
went down to the store with me, and after a little he
went out—returned shortly after and got a rocking-
chair that belonged to him. Saw him again about 9 o’-
clock that night at Dr. Stone’s office, bringing a chest
out or pulling it towards the door. He had studied at
Dr. Stone’s. I don’t know what he was going to do
with it. I next saw him about 6 weeks after. I have
never seen his wife since. Six weeks after he came 1nto
Hale’s store in Ithaca. He said he had come from be-
tween the lakes, near Geneva. I asked s 4 his wife was.
there. He said she was; no placo named. T asked him
up to my lodging room, and asked him if he had heard
of .a report there was about his murdering his wife and
child. He said he had not. He seemed t0 be some-
what surprised that they should think any such thing.,

119 He asked if it would be prudent. for him to go out in

the strect. While he was eating, he said his wife wag
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in Pennsylvana, near Erie, in about 2 hours ride of . my
brothers there ; that he had not been to my blothmq
.hddn’t hdd tlme [ said Ithourfht it, strange that he Eut
her . off s0 tar, as she said ahe would not o0 fdr fr o1
home. He said he got her on the rail road, emd bhe not
bemw used to tlavellmb, was going much fa-.tel th.-m
she supposed she was. Dldn’t say with whom she ln ed
He stayed 1n the room W1th me thdt night. His eyeq
were sore, 1 wmpped them 11p in cloths. He appeme(l
restless during the night. I asked him what troubled
him. He said it troubled him to think that the peoplu
.Ihad that opinion of him that he would murder his w1fe
dnd child, 1 told lum to be easy and I would expldm
The next day 1n P. M, he left the storeto go to my
fathel s, In the course of a week he came back to the
store ; he lemalned from betme noon tlll evenmb, when
he left. Henry and Jane came down with him. Rul-
loff said he would not give any mforma,tlon about hH
wife. We wanted him to stay till we could get a

letter from her. He saul qhe was 1n Ohlo, 11 Mddlb(ﬂl :
didn’t say who she was wwh After some conversation

he said he would lellldlll and “ntu to ber. He went to
my house and wrote the letter. After the letter was
finished, Ephraim came down to the store wuh hlm.
He had written a letter to his wife, :md a lettm to l)e-
puy, dlrectmg him to n'et the létter to his wife. It was
directed to Madison, Laku county, Ohio. He axreed to
remain for an answer. He left that evening. = Cliest at
Dr. Stone’s was a dark colored chest. Defendant was
gone several days, when he came back with my brother
Ephraim,under arrest. After he was in jail L m i
he said his wife was living and well pmnded for; duiu
say where she was.

Cross-eXxamined. Defendant took tea wﬂh e :mn:l
took the chest from Dr. Stone’s on tht, sarne Ll:l) S 1 h.:l,t
was the only dd,y I saw him that Week I buppmtid u:-‘-u-
erally defendant and wife lived happily. He provi-
dl}(l well for s rtmll.}, .-mrl often « illlHl Prese ne
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to her, at one time oranges. I and my wife boarded
with them at Mrs. O’Brian’s—afterwards seperated, but
visited together. I have not seen or heard anything
from my sister or her child since June 18, ’45; don’t

124 know whether they are living or dead.

Jane Schutt re-called. When Rulloff came back at

. the end of the six weeks, he said his wife was at Madi-
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son, L.ake Co., Ohio. I saw him write the letter to her.
I saw my brother take the letter. There were four
gentlemen chosen who labored hard one afternoon to
get Rulloff to tell where his wife and child were. The
tenor of his letter was to have her write that she Was
alive. He read the letter to us in the evening, Kph-
riam took 1t. Then Rulloff asked me to go after a
drink of water. As I went down, I saw a bundle on

the bureau, when I cameup I missed it. I keptmy eye
on him. He walked back and forth fora while as if he

wanted to get rid of me, then went on to the front stoop,
and then went off suddenly. The bundle was missing.
I sent word to the store that he had left.

Milton Ostrander, sworn. I live in Ithaca ; was em-
ployed in Babcock’s livery stable in 1845. Rulloff got
a horse and wagon of us on the evening of June, 25.

Got a lumber box wagon. Got 1t about dark. - Said he
wanted to go 3 or 4 miles. Ie had Dilworth’s wagon.
Eber Babcock, sworn. 1 am one of the owners of this
livery stable. Rulloff returned the horse and wagon
about 3 A. M. The date on the book was June 26th.—
The wagon belonged to one Dilworth.
Edmzmd I{ IV(Ii/Ci?M‘, SWOTI'l. [11 1845 [ lived at 'Itl]ﬂ..

ca; was a stage agent. | knew Rulloff by sight. A
man took the stage for Geneva; entered his naine as
“John Doe. This was defendant. He had two chests,

or a chest and a trunk chest; wasn’t much difference
intheir size. The chest was brown. The other [ should
think was put together for the occaston.  First saw
them in the stace office in the Clinton House,
Oross-examined. This was in the morning, about' ¥
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o’clock, of the 26th' June. I was & little surpriged at

the name. By informationIknew him. I did notknow
him personally. Didn’t see him again till the trial in
1846. :
Harrison Robinson, sworn. 1 lived in 'l"rutﬁ::em;-tbm'g n
June, 1845. Went out on the stage only once that year.
Rulloff went out with two chests as baggage.  He gave
his pame to the proprietor as John Doe.” He went on
through Trumansburg. '
Cross-examined. The chests were two painted chests,
~i?b0ut the same size. Rulloff said they contained books.

John F. Burdick, re-called. 'Two or three weeks after
Rulloft left, I went into the house after some books he
had borrowed of me Fields and I went in; I didn’t
find my books; I got my books afterwards. Saw S0Ie

dirty clothes in the wash room. Saw a skirt at the foot of

the bed lying 1n a cirele, also stockings, shoes, elastics—
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some dizheson the table unwashed. Noticed a stove,afline |

with =ome diapers—on the stove a tin wash-dish. One or
two diapers lay near the door. Saw the wash<tub. Three
or four weeks after I went in with 40 or 50 men, and found
the things about the same as at first. Think the Scutts
were there,, Sheriff Porter took the lead. The bed Was
in disorder.  In the bedroom was a bureau, and o tnp
& minlature bureau. Peorter found an invoice of lllb el-

fects. Saw the travelling basket.

Cross-examined. - We got the key of Mr. Flblds-—-—-

Nothing was disturbed the first tune 1 went to the
house.

Richard K. Swift sworn, says : I reside 1n Chicago?
lived there in 1845 ; dealt in money, principally it reul
estate. Think m 1845 my brother was applied to for a
loan by a man. My brother refused. Heard the miun
say he had lost his wife and child, and was out ot mon-
ey. I said to brother if he didn’t let him havé the
money I would., 1 let him have $25 oy wol, for which

he gave me his nf-tt-u-sigmu'l, | hulicw:, Jaawes fh ke -
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132 villee. He left as security for the payment of his note,
a brown chest, snuff brown, I think about 18 or 20
inches across ends, 3 feet or more long. As near as I
can now remember, he said his wife and child died
south of Chicago, on the lllinois River, in Illinois. I
think he said they died aboﬁt 6 weeks before. 1 was at
Ithaca in August last : saw defendant. 1 thought 5
recognized him. I might not have recognized him in

- acrowd. He told me if he didn’t return in a certain

133 time, I was to write to a certain place near, I think, the
Mohawk River. and he would remit the money. 1wrote
and received no answer. 1 then, with Dr. Dyn and
others, opened  the chest; found a good many books,
the box now 1n Court, a'sheet, and some other things,
Hé was there with me and got the mioney August'4,
1845. That was the date of the note. [ have a state-
ment made out February 18, 1847, of contents of the
box. I remember a large bundle of papers, Lectures

134 on Phrenology, Hooper’s Dictionary, E. H. Rulloff writ-
ten on inside cover. ' Some of the names were erased ;
names of places rubbed out, so of names of persons.—
Qrmall box contained women’s fixings ; papers in bottom
of the box : letters; cards marked Edward H. Rulloft;
a paper on which were the words, “Oh, that dreadfid
hour !’ one lock of light brown hair in paper, labelled
a lock of Harriet’s or Mary’s hair; 1 thonzght Harriet.

~ Think the chest was heavy with books. Saw a pocket-

135 book in box: can’t identify it. = Style of card s the
same; pair of hose like these. Remember a piece ot
silk and a bead bag like this; remember a collar like
this. The small hox was in our house for many vears,
The lock of hair was lost, and so of the loose pieces of
paper on which the words were written. I remember
a figured lace cap for an infant. The silk was light
colored—ash colored. ' There were a Jot of small sea-

shells.
| Oross-examined. Defendant looks like the man 1
136 loaned the money to. [ néxt gaw him i Ithaca last
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August. I think he said his wife and child died on
Illinois River. Think he said he had a farm down
there. Think he said it was six weeks since they died.

I think I expected him back in November. Note was
due Octcber 4, 1845,

Mrs. Richard K. Swift, sworn, says: | am wife of
last witness. Remember his bringing this box home.
Identified the articles remaining in box as the same.
The infant’s cap was used up. Remember the hair, but
not that it came in the box.

Aaron Schutt, sworn, says: I live in Dryden; am
brother of Mrs. Rulloff. Before Rulloft went away in

August and Ephraim followed, defendant wished me to

g0 with him and carry him and his goods to Montezu-
ma in a 2 horse wagon. [ said I could not go. He said
he would help me in harvest if I would go, and did so.
I think I did not agree to go. I advised him to take
them to Ithaca with a one horse wagon. He wanted to
save expense by my carrying them to Montezuma. Ith-
aca was O miles from his house. Montezuma was 40 or

50 miles from our house.

 Ephraim Schutt, re-called, says: There is no landing
on the lake nearer defendant than Ithaca. I visited de-
fendant’s house when suspicions were raised. 1 know

defendant had a cast iron mortar that would weigh 25
or 30 lbs.; he had flat 1rons; on search could not find

anything of them. I agree with Dr. Burdick as to ap-
pearances at the house. I was at Hale’s store in Ithaca
5 or 6 weeks after Mrs. Rulloff ’s disappearance,and saw
Rulloff enter the store. William shook hands with him
and asked him where he had been. He said between
the lakes. William asked where his wife and child
were. Hesaid between the lakes. William and he went
up stairs, and I saw no more of him that day. Next
saw him when he came back from my fathers, at Will-
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iam’s. 1 was there when several gentlemen came in to 140

ask him about her. He would give no definite satisfac-
tion. They left him and'told him that he would proba-
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bly be detained. After they were gone, he asked what
he had best to do. 1 told him to write to her immedi-
ately, and asked him if he would remain until they got
an answer from my sister. He said he would, that she
was at Madison, Lake Co. Ohio. He then commenced
writing his letter ; wrote one and tore it up, after that
141 he wrote another. After dark he directed the letter to
N. Depuy, Madison, and gave it to me to show the gen-
tlemen, and mail. 1did so. Shortly atter I mailed the
letter, I was informed defendant had left. I pursued
him. I went across to Geneva ; got there early in the
morning. Searched first train, but could not find him.
At Rochester we changed cars; there L saw him and he
me. [ remained in car till the train was 1n motion,
then went through the car ; found him on last emigrant
142 car, on back platform, with bundle in his hand. He
said he would go with me where my sister was. We
went on together to Buffalo. 1 said we would stop at
the Mansion House. He objected, expressed some fear
that the officers would be after him. We finally went.
there. I called for a room, and both occupied it. I
said I would enter my name on Hotel book. He said

he wold sleep on floor, as there was but one bed. He
took off his shoes. His feet were blistered badly ; said:
143 he blistered them walking from Ithaca to Auburn. He
oot to sleep. I locked him in and went away, came,
back. He was frightened as I came in ; said he thought.
it was officers from Ithaca after him. Next morning:
we went down to the boat; got tickets for Fairport.
He paid for them, and while I was looking about for a
place to sit down, and while crowding through the
crowd, he disappeared. The boat started, and I failed
tofind him on board. I then stopped at Erie, where I
144 bad a brother living. I enquired of him, but could
hear nothing from Rulloff or his wife. In the morning
I took another boat and went to Fairport. With a pri-
vate conveyance I went to Madison, and enquired for
N. Depuy and Mrs. Rulloft'; could hear of no such per-



39

sons ; no Mr. Depuy had ever lived there. It wasa small
place, quite small. I left their names with persons, and
asked them to write 1f any such persons were heard
from. I went from there to Cleveland ; obtained a war-
rant ; went down to landing; saw two large steamers
coming. Rulloff was on the 2d boat with the emigrants.
I then went after an ofticer. When I came back I
found him in an eating house, behind a dry goods box.

1 pointed him out to the officer, who approached him
and sald, 1s your name Rulloff? He said no sir. I

sald 1t 18 him. Then he was arrested, and I then
brought him back, and he has since been in confine-
ment. Ie since told me his wife and child were living,

but he would not tell me where they were.

. Cross-examined. Heard the officer pronounce the
name of Rulloff. The sheriff told him that he would

keep him 1n irons unless he would consent to go. I got
a warrant in Buffalo from a magistrate, without exam-
1ination, and brought him in irons from Buffalo. I re-

collect hearing the officer call the name. Never have
seen anything of the wife or child or heard anything.

" The foregoing is all the evidence given on said trial ;
Whereupon the counsel for the defendant renewed
his motion made at and upon the opening of the cause
to the jury, and insisted that as it now appeared that
no direct evidence of the death or the murder of the
infant daughter had been given, no conviction for mur-
der could be properly had or allowed, and that the jury
should be so advised and instructed, and should be di-
rected to find a verdict of Not Guilty. But his honor
declined and refused so to advise, instruct and direct
the jury ; to which said refusal the counsel for the de-
fendant did then and there in due form except.

The cause was then summed up to the jury by the
counsel for the respective parties, and his honor, the
cald Justice, charged the jury as follows :—
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GENTLEMEN :

Thé prisoner at the bar, Edward H. Rulloff, was in-
dicted in the Tompkins County Oyer and Terminer for
the murder of his infant daughter abont 3 mounths old.
T'he Indictment was carried into the Supreme Court by

149 certiorari, and the cause came down tothe Tompkins
Circuit in August last for trial. The Court being una-
ble to obtain a jury.-in that county, ordered the trial to
be:had in this county, and hence in the discharge of
my duty, as Judge presiding in this Circuit, the duty
of presiding on this trial has unexpectedly fallen upon
me ; and the same act which has devolved this highly
résponsible duty upon me, has also cast upon you the

| great responsibility of determining this traverse be-

150 tween the government and the prisoner at the bar.—
The' charge against the prisoner i1s no less than' the
murder of his own nfant daughter of two or three
months of age. Murder, under our Statute, 1s defined
to ' be the unlawful killing of" a human being. - First,
When such killing is perpetrated from a premeditated
design to effect the death of the person killed or of any
human being. Second. When perpetrated by an act
imminently dangerous to others, and evincing a deprav-

151 ed mind regardless of human life, although without any
premeditated design to effect the death of any pa,rticu-
lar individual. 7hirdly. When perpetrated without .f.m}
design to effect death by a person engaged in the com-
mission of a felony.

You should not forget, gentlemen of the Jury. that
we commence this trial with the presumptions all in
féﬁvor of the prisoner. The law in its clemency, pre-
sumes the entire innocence of the prisoner, and the

152 government before they have a right to ask the convic-
tion of the prisoner, are bound not only to prove the
alleged murder, but are required also to adduce evi-
dence-to‘dstablish the guilt of the prisoner beyond any
reasonable doubt. Th order to maintain their case, the
government are called upon to prove, First, that a mur-
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der has been committed, and, Secondly, that the prison-
er at the bar is the person who committed such murder.
The first branch of the case, the Corpus Delicti; as it is

termed in the law, by which 18 meant the body of the 153

crime, the fact that a murder has been committed must
be clearly and conclusively proved by the government.
The Corpus Delicty’ is made up of two things : Farst, of
certain facts forming the basis of the Corpus Delictr, by
which is meant the fact that a human ' being has been
killed, ‘and Secondly, the existence of criminal and hu-
man agency as the cause of the death. Upon this first
branch of the case the counsel for the prisoner claims
and ‘insists that it can only be proved by direct and
positive evidence; that the government must prove the
fact of death by witnesses who saw the killing, or at
least the dead body must be found. It has been said by
some judges that a conviction for murder ought never
to be permitted unless the killing was positively sworn
to or the dead body was found and identified. This, as
a general proposition, is undoubtedly correct, but like
other generdl rules has its exceptions. It may sometimes
happen that the dead body cannot be produced, although
the. proof of death i1s clear and satisfactory. A strong
case in ‘illustration is that of a murder at sea, where
the body i1s thrown overboard in a dark and stormy
night, at a great distance from land or any vessel. Al-
though the body cannot be found, nobody can doubt
that the author of such crime is guilty of murder. In
such a case, the law permits the jury to infer that death
has ensued from the facts proved. The circumstances
being such as to exclude the least if not almost every
probability that such a person could have escaped with
life, and yet there is a bare possibility in such a case
that the person may have escaped with life. 1 am of
opinion that the rule as understood in this country,
does not require the. fact of death to be proved by pos-
iti?e and direct eVidence, 1In cases where the (_li:-:(:ovcr_y:
of the body after the crime isimpossible.  In such cases

154
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the fact may be established by circumstances, where
157 the evidence is so strong and intense as to produce the
full certainty of death. By the proof of a fact by pre-

.. sumptive evidence, we are to understand the proof of
facts and circumstances from which the existence of
such fact may be justly inferred. The facts and circum-
stances to establish the death in the case of murder in

the absence of any positive evidence, must be so strong
and intense as to produce the full certainty of death,

or as Mr. Wills, in his Treatise on €ircumstantial evi-

158 dence, 162, (Burrill on Cir. Ev., 680,) says the death
may be inferred from such strong and unequivocal cir-

“ cumstances as renders it morally certain and leaves
no ground for reasonable deubt.’ T'he government claim
that they have proved the body of the crimexin.the
¢ase under consideration«up to the strictest require-
nients of this rule. This:is for you to determine, gen-
tlemen of the Jury.  The determination of it involves
the examination of all the facts and circumstances dis-
159 closed by the evidence in the case. I am very much re-

lisved from calling your attention to these facts and
¢ircumstances, by the very full and able argument of
the counsel for the prisoner and the people, who have

rendered you very great aid in your duties, and have
relieved the Court in the performance of its duty by
their comments upon the evidence in the case. This

question is to be determined by you, gentlemen of the
Jury, in view of all the evidence reflecting in the least

160 degree upon this branch of the case.

The government places great reliance to establish the
death in this case upon the sudden disappearance of this
woman and child under the circumstances of this case,
without any apparent cause, and the failure to find eith-
er the mother or child after the most diligent search
for eleven long years. This fact is very proper to be
taken into account in determining this question, and is
a fact of no little importance in determinining the

161 question; but although this unaccountable disappear-
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ance. and failure to ascertain any trace of them may
lead to a strong suspicion thiat those parties have come
to an untiuml} end, yet thiey are not alone sufficient
pr oof of the death of this child and mother to justify a
conwctlon, because tbe fact may be accounted for on
the hypothesis (however improbable) that they may
have absconded and eluded all inquiry, or mdy be kid-
napped and concealed and be still alive, and upon this
branch of the case it 1s your duty to take into considér-
ation the fact which seems to be admitted on this trial,
that the prisoner at the bar wis convicted in ‘the year
11846 of having abducted his wife alive. ; .

. The government rely upon the confessions of the
prisoner made to and proved by Mr. Swift, to prove the
death of this child. Switt proves the prisoner in Chica-
0, on the 4th of August, 1845, and he says that he told

him he had lost his wife and child about 6 weeks before.
He stated that they died south of Chicago, in Illinois,
about 6 weeks before. It is for you to say, gentlemen
of the Jury, what construction should be put upon this
langnage. Youare required by the law to take this con-
fession all together, as well that which makes for the
prisoner as that which makes against him. The law,
however, does not compel you to adopt the whole con-
fession, 1f you find that the other evidence in the case
proves any part of the confession to be untrue. 1 should
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say to you, however that confessions are a doubttul sp'e- 164

cies of evidence, and are to be received with great cau-
tion by both Courts & Jurors ; and the law requires me to
say to you that no man can be convicted of a criminal
offence upon his own confession alone that a crime has
been committed. Confessions are competent evidence
in the case, but alone are not sufficient.

You have listened to the detail of the evidence adduc-
ed by government trom the evening of the23d ol June,

1845, when the prisoner at the bar is proved to have 165

been in his own house with his wite and infant child,
up to the time when he is arrested 1 the eity of Cleve-
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land and brought back by Ephraim Schutt, and lodged
in the Tompkins County Jail, and all of these facts and
circumstances have just been so ably and elaborately

- commented upon by both the counsel for the prisoner

and the people, and the legitimate deductions to be
drawn therefrom have been so fully presented to your

166 consideration, that I am lelleved from the duty of go-

167

168

169

ing over the evidence. _[t 18 _proper, however, that I
should state to you the rule which should govern you in
the ultimate conclusion to be attained from the evi-
dence in the case.

In regard to the first branch of the case, the establish-
ment of the corpus delicti, the body of the crime, before

~you find it agminst the prisoner, you must be satisfied

from the evidence in the case that it is established by
presumptive evidence of the most cogent and irresista-

ble kind—that it is established by circumstances proved
so strong and 1ntense as to produce the full certainty of

death.

In regard to the second branch of the case, by which
we mean the traverse between the government and the
prisoner as to the question of the defendant’s guilty
agency 1n the commission of the alledged murder, as to

this question of the defendant’s guilt of the crime im-

puted, the rule which should govern 1is this : The gov-
ernment are required, before they can claim a convie-
tion, to prove by their evidence the guilt of the prison-
er beyond any rational doubt.

If, upon a full and fair consideration of all the evi-
dence in the case, doubts remain in the minds of the
Jury, it is the duty of the Jury to acquit. Upon this
branch of the case the doubts however, which require
an acquittal, should be rational doubts. They are not
doubts which may arise in a speculative mind, after the
reason and judgment are thoroughly convinced by the

evidence in the cause.

T —— | ———

To so much and such parts of said charge and in-
structions given to the Jury as submits to them to in-
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fer, presume and find without direct proof the death
and the murder of the infant daughter, the counsel for
the defendant did then and there in due form of law
except.

The Jury returned a verdict of Guilty.

And, inasmuch as the said several matters so produc- 170
ed and_gwen n ewdence, and the b&ld several Ob_]BC-
tions, motions, decisions, rulings, instructions and
charge to the Jury do not appear by the record of the
verdict aforesaid the counsel for the defendant did then
anid there propose their aforesaid exceptions to the
opinions, decisions, instructions and charge aforesaid of
the said Justice, and requested him to put his seal to
this bill of exceptions, containing the said several mat-
ters according to the form of the statute in such cases 171
made and provided ; and, thereupon, the said Justice,
at such request, did put his seal to this bill of excep-
tions, pursuant to the aforesaid statute, this 28th day of
October, 1856. CHARLES MASON, [L. S.]

State of New York, Tioga County Clerk’s office, ss -

I, Leroy W. Kingman, County Clerk of the county
of Tioga, do hereby certify that the foregoing is a true
record of the proceedings, trial, conviction and excep-
tions, 1n the case of the People agt. Edward H. Rulloff ; 172
and that the said proceedings, trial, conviction and ex-
ceptions, as aforesaid, were had at a Circuit Court held
at the Court House in said oounty of Tioga, on the 28th
day of October in the year 1856.

In testimony whereof, I have hereunto set my hand
and official seal, this 13th day of January, in the year
1857. |L. s.] ¥, B KING\IAI\, |

Clerk, ".l’ioga Uy NEX.

e —

And the said Edward H. Rullof, b} his attorney and 173

‘counsel, he not belng,personally present having movc,d
for a new trial upon said bill of exceptions, after hear-
ing the counsel for said Rulloff in favor of sald motion,
aud the counsel on the part of the people 1 opposition
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thereto, and due deliberation being thereupon had, it
was'ordered that said motion be denied.

And afterwards, to-wit, on the 7th day of July, 1858,
before the justices of the Supreme Court aforesaid, to-

174 wit : Justices Gray, Mason, Balcom and Campbell, at a
term of said court of the state of New-York, in and for
the Sixth Judicial District held at the Court House

in Delhi, in the county of Deleware, came the
sald Edward H. Rulloff in his own proper person,
and the people by Marcus Lyon, District Attorney of

the county of Tompkins aforesaid, and the record of
said trial and conviction and the defendant’s excep-
tions thereto being before said court, and fully under-

175 stood and examined, and the said Edward H. Rulloff

being inquired of by the presiding justice 1n open court
' what he had to say why sentence should not be pro-

nounced against him, moved for a new trial upon said
bill of exceptions in person, upon, amongst other
grounds, because it appears in said bill of exceptions,
and otherwise, that the writ of certiorari removing the

Indictment from the Oyer and Terminer to the Supreme
Court was returnable at and returned to a Special
176 Term of said Court, and the venue or place of trial

changed to Tioga by order of said Special Term, and
that the Tioga circuit had no jurisdiction of the mat-
ter ; that inasmuch as he was not personally present at
the term held at the Court House in Binghamton when
the motion for a new trial was argued, the order deny-
ing the motion for a new trial was void and of no effect
and no judgment could be entered thereon, but a re-ar-
gument should be ordered: that the term of the Court
177 held at Binghamton, which heard and passed upon said
motion for a new trial was composed of Justices Gray,
Mason and Balcom ; that Justice Mason could not legally
take part in deciding upon a motion for a new trial, he
having presided on the frial and it appearing by the
opinions of the Court as given by the members thereof,
that Justice Balcom did not concur in denying said mo-
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tion for a new trial, but expressly dissented therefrom,
that the order denying said motion was a nullity ; and
due deliberation being thereupon had, it is ordered by 178
the said court now here, that the motion for a new trial
made by said Rulloff, upon said bill of exceptions, be
and the same is hereby denied, und that the said motion
for arrest of Judgment also made by said Rulloft, en the
said several grounds be also denied. To which said
decisions and each of them the said Edward H. Rulloft
then and there duly excepted ; and it is thereupon consid-
ered and ordered by the Court now here, that in pursu-
“ance of said conviction, the said Edward H. Rulloff be 179
taken to the jail of the said people of the State ot New
York of the said county of Tompkins from whence he
== ,%""ca,lne, and from thence on the 27th day of
Augu&;t 1858, to the place of execution,
and then and there, between the hours of
ten o’clock in the forenoon and two o’-
tclock in the afternoon of that day, be
hanged by the neck until he he dead.

e e
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SUPREME COURT.

At a General Term of the Supreme Court of the State 180
of New York, held in and for the Sixth Judicial Dis-
trict, at the Court House, in the village of Delhi, coun-
ty of Deleware, on the 7th day of July, 1838.

Present, Hon. HIRAM GRAY, )

CHARLES MASON, i Toatii
RANSOM BALCOM, ~ pvustices:
Wu. W. CAMPBELL, -

e S —

THE PEOPLE |
Agt. >
EDWARD H. RULLOFF. |

The Defendant, Edward H. Rulloft, lmvilng been duly 181
convicted of the crime of murder in the Thoga Cirenit,
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and having duly moved for a new trial upon a bill of
exceptions taken upon said trial, and counsel upon the
part of said Edward H. Rulloff, having been heard in
support of said motion, and also on the part of the peo-
ple against the same, and the said Edward H. Rulloff,
having been heard in support of said motion in person,
and due deliberation being thereupon had, it is
Ordered, that the said motion for a new trial be and
182 the same is hereby denied, and the said Edward H. Rul-
loff in open court having been inquired of by the pre-
siding Justice what he had to say why the sentence of
the law should not be pronounced against him upon said
conviction, and having addressed the Court and alleged
his reasons why sentence should not be pronounced,

it 18
Ordered that the said Edward H. Rulloff be returned

to the place of confinement, there to remain until the
183 27th day of August next; and on that day be taken to
the place of execution pronounced bylaw, and between
the hours of ten o’clock in the forenoon and two o’clock
in the afternoon, be hanged by the neck until he be dead.

STATE OF NEw YORK,
DELAWARE CouNTYy CLERK’S OFFICE SS

S S A ————— s TS,

I do hereby certify that I have compared the forego-
ing copy order with the original on file and of record
184 in this office, and that the same is a correct transcript
therefrom and of the whole thereof.
In Testimony whereof I have hereunto set my hand
and official seal, this 7th day of July, 1858.

[L. S.] BenJ. CANNON, Clerk.
STATE OF NEwW -YORK, |
ToMPRINS COUNTY CLERK’S OFFICE: (- 88

#W_——ﬁ ———— e — i —— iy

I, Charles G. Day, Clerk of TompklnS County, do
hereby certify that I have compared the foregoing cop-

Rl s, ¥
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fes of ‘the Records, Indictmients, I’Loueedmgs, Olderq 185

bonwctmn and Exceptlonb in the cftbe of l‘hﬁ, PeUple

"Recol‘d in this oﬁice, and that thesame are wne(_,t {,op-
ies thereof and of the whole of such originals “aid
original Records. s,
In witness whereof ‘I have hereunto set my hand ‘and
official seal this 7th day Séptember, 1858.
B CHARLES G. DAY,
L. 54 Otk 6f TOmMPRTHS Couhty.

AIN'COURT OF APPEALS
The People of the State of New York :
To the Justices of the Supreme Court of the State
of New York, in and for the Sixth Judicial District—
Gleeting

the giving of Judgment upon a certain lndlctment,
made against Edward H. Rulloff, of having on the 23d
day of June, in the year erghteen hundred and forty-

186

five, at Lansing, in the county of Tompkins, and State

of New York, feloniously murdered the infant daughter
of him,thesaid KEdward L. Rullotf, in our said Supreme
Court before you, as 1t 1s said manifest error hath inter-
vened, to the great damage of the said Edward H. Rul-
lotf, as by his'complaint we are informed.

We, being willing that the ervor, if any there be,
should in due manner be corrected, and full and bpeedx
justice done to the said Edward H. Ralloff in this be-

upon given, then you send to our Court of Appeafs,
distinctly and openly, undér your seal, the record of
that judgment, with all things touching the saine, and
this writ, so Ethat 1s may have them at the ()tt"[jzltifyll}:iﬁ'
“the city of Albany, on’ the last Tuegt}a} of \epfémlru:
next, that the record and proceedings afolésaid bemg
“inspected, the Court ot Appeals may causeto be tmtherT

188
half, do command you, that if’ the judgment be théres =

~done thereupon for the correc ting that errdr what, of lhq
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right and according to the law and custom of the State

of' New ‘York, ought to be done.
Witness, Alexander S. Johnson,. Chief Judge of the

Court of Appeals, at the Capitol in the city of Albany,
the eighth day of July, one thousand eight hundred

and fifty-eight.
(L. S.] RUSSEL F. HICKS, Clerk.

BoaArDMAN & Finch, Defendant’s Attorneys.

#

190 I allow the within writ of error; and I expressly di-
rect that this allowance is to operate as a stay of pro-
ceedings on the judgment upon which the said writ is
brought. Dated this Sth day of July, 1858.

H. GRAY.

SUPREME COURT.

THE PTLOPLE . . |
Agt. !
EDWARD H. RULLOFF.

. OPINION.
191 Mason J. The only question' presented by the pris-

oner’s counsel upon the bill of exceptions, in this case,
is whether upon the trial of an indictment for murder,
the corpus delicti can be proved by any other than direct
evidence. The question 1s one of the highest impor-
tance, and I have examined 1t with the most anxious
desire to arrive at a just conclusion, and a correct de-
termination of the question, and I have bestowed upon
192 it the most careful and deliberate consideration, -ang_l
the result is a firm conviction that there is nothing In
the results of experience, or in the nature and charac-
ter of circumstancial evidence, which forbids the corpus
delicts being proved and established by indirect evidence
any more than there is the guilt of the prisoner or any
other fact in the case. There is no more Insecurity in
the sanctiohs given to circumstantial evidence as ad-
193 mistered at the present day in the conrts of England
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and this country than there is in direct evidence; and
every attempt which has been made to assail circum-
stantial evidence from the results of experience has
done no more than to prove that it necessarially par-
takes of the infirmities incident to all human testimony.
Every consideration which has been argued against it
~on this ground has only tended to detract from the cred-
ibility of human testimony generally, and has shown
that the fallibility of human testimony applies to cir-

cumstantial only in common with other evidence. If

the annals of the judicial history of England from the
time of William the conquerer to the present day could
be put into a volume, it would show more convictions
- of 1nnocent persons in capital cases by direct evidence,
the results of fraud and perjury and honest mistake
| 'thd;l'l those upon circumstantial evidence alone. There
_is little doubt that if the catalogue of victims be con-
fined to perjured witnesses alone, the result would show
‘a greater number than can be imputed to the account
of eircumstantial evidence, and yet honest mistake and
fallibility in direct and positive proof would remain to
- claim 1ts share.

The testimony of the senses cannot be implicitly re-
lied on, even where the veracity of the witness is above
all . suspicion, and consequently lamentable mistakes
have oceurred in direct and positive proof as'to the
identity of the prizoner. Sir Thomas Darmout, an em-
inent English barrister, a gentleman of acute mind and
strong understanding, swore positively to the identity
of two men whom he charged i robbing him n open
day light. But it was proved by the most conclusive
evidence that the men on trial were at the time of the
robbery at so remote a distance from the spot, that the
thing was impossible. The men were acquitted, and
some time afterwards the robbers were taken and the
articles stolen found upon them. Sir Thomas, on s¢e-

194

195

196

197
ing these men, candidly acknowledged his mistake, and
it 1s said gave a recompense to the men who had so



48
‘narrowly escaped conviction. Rex vs. Wood & Brown,
“State Trials, vol 28, p. 819. "Wills on ‘cir. ev., 47, 48,
81 The case of Rex vs. Clinch '& M¢Ackley, 3 P. & .
‘144, where 'the prisoners were convicted at the old
Baily sessions‘in 1799 of the murder of one Freer, and
executed. The identity of the prisoners was positively
198 sworn'to by a lady who was 1n company with the de-
~ceased at the -time of the robbery and murder. It
‘turned out afterwards that she was mistaken in the
‘persons. * Wills on cir. ev. 110. An equally fatal mis-
take was made in the conviction of Robinson at the
old’ Bailey in July, 1824, upon direct and positive proof.
See Rex vs. Robinson, Session papers 1824. Wills on
cir. ev.'110. A similar mistake was made by another
- prosecutor a few months before the last mentioned case,
199 where -a young man was tried for highway robbery,
and ‘the prosecutor swore positively that the prisoner
was the man who robbed him of his watch.  Wills on
cir. ev. 111, Grow’s case was a conviction for murder
by an honest mistake in the witnesses of personal iden-
tity.  They mistook Grow for Geddely, the real crimi-
nal. The remarkable case of Hoag, tried in the city of
New York for bigamy, forcibly illustrates how easy it
~is to be mistaken upon a question of personal identity.
200 5 C. H. Rec. 124. Cases of this description might be
greatly multiplied, but they would only serve to estab-
lish the fallibility of even direct and positive proof.—
The evidence of the identification of the dead body in
many of the cases referred to by the counsel for the
people upon the argument of this case,although classed
under the head of direct evidence, are less satisfactory
proof of the corpus delicti than the evidence in the case
at bar furnishes. 1In the case of Kugene Aram, wheré
201 the skeleton was found in a cave 13 years after the
murder, the proof of the 1dentity of the body as that of
Clarke was very faint, and but for the strong ecircum-
stantial evidence a convietion could never have been
jllsti'ﬁé‘d. Charles the II.. after being much distignred,
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was 1dentified by a resemblance to the head upon the -

coins issued durmg his reign.” The Marchioness of
Sahsbury, found ‘in the ruins of  Hatfield House, was
identified by gold appendages to' the artificial teeth.—

In the case of Mary Martin, the 1dentification was by 202

missing” teeth. In'the case of Clows, the body was
identified 23 years after the murder by the pecaliarity
of  the teeth. 'The recent case of Dr. Webster in our
‘own country, the'identification of the body consisted an
the evidence of a dentist as to the 1dentity of the arti-
ficial teeth. - There is little use in going - over cases of
thid dégmiption, The evidence of identity in wery
many of these and similar/'cases which might be great-

ly' multiplied, are, although classed: under the head of 203

direct evidence, far less satisfactory proot to establish
the' corpies delicti- than' many cases which: rest: entirely
upon ¢ircumstantial evidence. © It 1stherefore noreason
for rejecting ' circumstantial evidence that a few: cases
can be found in the course of perhapsas many centu-
ries,' where innocent men have been convicted upon
this  species of evidence, for the results of  experience
hdve demonstrated that the same aceusation with equal

Y

if ‘not greater force may be brought against direct evi- 204

denice. It was wel and beautifully said by Park J.; in
Reéx'vs. Thurtell, tried for the murder of Wane at the
Haxtford assize in January, 1824, that < the eye of
“Omniscience can alone see the truth in all casesq oir-
“ cumstantial evidence is there out of the question; but

“ glothed as we are with the infirmities of: human! na-t

“ture, how are we to get at the truth without a concat-
““ enation of circumstances? Though in human judicii-
““ ture imperfect as 1t must necessarily be, it ‘sométimes
“ happens perhaps, 1n the course of 'one hundred years,
““that in a few solitary instances, owing to the minite
“and curious _-ci]'cumstﬂnceﬂ which SﬁH‘lBtimBB' QHYﬁIOPB
“ hauman transactions, error has been committed from a

“reliance on circumstantial evidenee ; yet this species

“of evidence, in the opinion of all thme who are most

200

;\‘u
|
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““ gonversant with the administration of justice and most

“ gkilled in judicial proceedings, is much more satisfac-

206 “tory than the testimony of a single individual who

207

208

““ has seen the fact committed.” 1 Cow. & Hill’s notes,
393, ' |

It was said by Washington Justice, in U. 8. vs. Johns:
1 Wash. C. €. R. 372, that circumstantial evidence “is
sufficient and is often more persuasive than the positive
“gvidence of a witness who may be mistaken, whereas
““ a concatenation and a fitness of many circumstances
“made out by different witnesses can seldom be mista-
“ken or fail to elicit the truth.” It was said by Liv-
ingston justice, that “the rule even to a capital case is,
“that should the circumstances be sufficient to convince
“the mind and remove every rational doubt, the jury is
“bound to place as much reliance on such circumstan-
“ ces ason direct and positive proof, for facts and cir-
‘“ enmstances cannot lie.” Jacobson’s case, 2 C. & H.

Ree. 1435 1 Cow. & Hill’s notes, 308. Burnett says

““ carcumstances are anflexible proofs.”’ -Burnett on the
common law of Scotland, p. 523.  Paley says “ circum-
“gtances cannot lie.”” - Prin. mor. & Political Ph. Book
6, chapter 9. Burke the distinguished statesman and

orator ‘has said that “ when circumstantial proof is. in

“1ts greatest pertection, that i1s when 1t 1s most abun-
“dant in circumstances, it is much superior to positive
“proof.””  Burke’s works, vol. 2, p 624. Paley has de-
clared and with more caution, that “a concurrence of

209 well authenticated circumstances, composes a stronger

ground of assurance than positive testimony uncon-

firmed by circumstances usually affords.”  Prin. of mor.

- rand Pol. Phi. Book 6, ¢h. 9: = It-was said by Liegge upon

the trial of Mary Blandy for murder, that where “a vi-
olent presumption necessarily arises from the circum-
stances, they are more convincing and satisfactory than
any other kind of evidence, because facts cannot lie.”
28 vol. State Trials, 1187. Justice Butler stated to the

210 jury in his chargein the trial of John Donellan for mur-



ol

der, that “ a presumptwn which necessarlly arises
hom circumstances is very often more convincing and
SatlbfaGtOI) than any other kind of evidence because it
is not within the reach and compass of human abilities
to invent a train of circumstances which shall be so
connected together as to amount to a proot of guilt
without affording opportunities of contradicting a great
part, if not all of those circumstances.” See Gunning’s
report of trial. The opinions of Judges of similar im- 211
port might be multi plied to almost any extent; but the
character and force of circumstantial evidence is so well
defined and recognized by all the elementary writers
upon evidence, that it becomes unnecessary to pursue
it. - Starkie, in speaking of circumstantial evidence,
says, “it is in its own nature capable of producing the
highest degree of moral certainty.” 3 Stark. liv.499, 430.
The nature and character of circumstantial evidence are
as well elucidated and described by Wills. in his admi- 212
rable book on Cir. Ev., as in any author which has fallen
under my observation. Ie maintains that circumstan-
tial evidence is capable of producing. an | equal degree
of moral certainty with direct evidence ; and Burrill,
in his most excellent treatise on Cir. Kv., maintains the
samme claim for-it.  In short, there 1s not a writer of re-
speetability upon the principles of evidence, but what
admits that circumstantial evidence has the inherent

capacity to produce moral certainty in its results. LIt 213
is a principle of circumstantial evidence that it is never

permitted to rise to the dignity of proof, until it does
produce moral certainty. It is correctly said by Wills
that a presumption which necessarily arises from cir-
cumstances, cannot admit of dispute and requires no.
corroboration. He adds, if evidence be so strong. as.
necessarily to produce certainty and conviction,.1t mat;
ters not by what kind of evidence the effect is produced,
and the. intensity of the proof must be precisely .the 214
same whether the evidence be direct or ciroumstantia_l:.
[t is noty he adds, intended to deny that circumstantial



02"

evidence affords a safe and satisfactory ground of 'assu-'
rance and belief, nor that in many individual instances

it'may be superior in proving poweér, to other individu-
al cages of proof by direct evidence. Wills'on Cir Ev. -

29, 45. Tt was said by Lord ‘Erskine, with 'the strictest

philosophical truth in the Banbury Peerage case, “that

215 proof ismothing more than 'a presumptlon of the high< :

est-order.” Wills Cir. Ev. 48! Tt is equally so wheth-
er the evidence be direct or circumstantial. " If 'a wit-
ness swears directly to'a fact, as a general rule we're-
card the fact as proved, because we presume the witness’
has told the truth; yet it is but a presumption‘after all.
Having considered thus far the nature and charactér of

circumstantial evidence, let me enquire whether 1t has

216

not sufficient provmg power to esta‘ohsh the ‘corpus delicti

in a charge of murder.
Lord Hale has often been referred to asauthority

~against the rule, and in some instances has been fol-

217

lowed as authc&rlt}, denying the admissibility and com-
petenc} of such’ evidence to establish the corpus delicti
in such a case. Liord Hale said, “I never would con-

vict any person of murder or manslaughter unless the’
fact is well proved to be done, or at least the dead body

féﬁnd, for the sake of two cases,” which he states of
wrong convictions where the body was not produced or
found and identified. 2 Hale 290, 2 Stark. on Ev. 513"

Now the only reason assigned by Lord Hale against the
competency of this species of evidence, if it can be re-

carded as an opinion against its competency, was'that
in two instances conviction had been had ‘upon circums-
stantial evidence to establish ‘the corpus delicti, when it

~ turned out afterwards that the persons were innocent.

Thig'is no argument for rejecting this species of “evi-

218 dence, for the same accusation can be brought against

the proof of the guilt of the prisoner by circumstantial :

“evidence, where the corpus delicti has been’ clea‘rly estab-"

lished by direct evidence, and the same charge can be
brought against direct evidence ag we have shown.— -
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THis remark of 'Lord Hale; although'it has been ofteiv
quoted by -Judges, and ‘has found"its way into" the Elés-
mentary 'Books' upon evidence, and ‘publi¢ists upon
criminal law,‘yet it ‘has not been ‘generally regarded as
authority, hut at most as’merely advisory, and‘ the File 219
as statedt by him' is'now’ generally repudiated CagurY
sound. © It s stated ‘by ‘Buorrill;'in ‘his valugble treatise’
on'circumstantial’ evidence, that ** the ‘death: may- be
inferred from such strong-and unequivocal ciretmstans

ces as'renders it morally certain and leaves no’ ground-

for reasonable “doubt.” © Burrill on'Cir. Ev. 680; It'is’
‘satd by Wills, in 'his ' most 'estimable’f-essay on’eir.ev.] -
thatit 15 a fundamental and inflexible’ rule ‘of: ‘legal’
pr{)cedure and of ‘universal obligation ‘to'require datis- 220
factory’ provf “of  the corpus delveli, either by 'ditect evis
dence or by cogent-and irresistible grounds-of presuip-
tion:'© Wills' ot Cir. ' Ev. 166, 178 He says ‘again ‘at!
page 185, after ‘quoting the' ' remurks of Lord 'Hale,
“that to! l'equi-re the ‘discovery of the body invall ‘caseés’
would be unreasonable, and lead to absurdity and 1~
justice; und is'indeed  frequently rendered’ impossible” <
by 'the act of the offender himself. " The fact of death,’

- therefore,” he adds, “ may be inférred from such strong’ 221
“and unequivocal “circumstances of ' presumption, as’
“render it morally certain and *lealve*nogmund‘ of reas
‘““gonable doubt.” " Wills on Cir. 'Ev) 163, 185, frém tha

3d London edition. ' Greenleat adopts the rule of Wills;!

e says that even in the case of homicide, though ordi<
narily, there ought to be thé' testimony of persons‘whe’
have seen and identified the body ; yet this is 1ot indigs
pensably necessary in cases where the proof of death“is’

so strong and intense as to produce the full assurance’ 222
of moral certainty. 3 Greenleaf ev.,'p. 30 Hé recites’
the' remark of ‘Lord Hale, in sec. 131, sauie'vol., p. 121}
and regards it ‘as only advisory, and’ Tepudi ates It gy
rule, * Starkie, in his “first' vol.; page 511 “Btﬁ“ﬁm’ NG
quotes Lord ‘' Hale with® appl‘f)ba‘hbn And e T
"'“le)lﬂ‘\l‘nquallﬁed* terms’ to be, that 1{‘}13*%0;?,”0,,'@{,.(,”
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can only be. proved. by direct. evidenceof .the fact,;on
by dlscovery and inspection of the dead l;ggy He has,
223 however, referxerl to the subject  again.in his second.
vol,, at page 513, and corrected himself,in the empl%t-
-« ment of the followmg language : It has-been: lajd down.
by Lord Hale, as a rule.of, procedure in. cases of mur-.
der, that to warrant a conviction, proof should be given,
of the death by evidence of the fact or the actual. find-,
ing of  the dead body.  But, he. adds,although. it be
certain that no. conviction ought to take place.unless
there is the most and decisive evidence as to the death,
224 yet it seems that actual * proof of the finding and iden-.
tlfymg of the body-is not absolutely essential ;> and. it
- is evident that to lay,down a strict rule to that extent,
mlght‘_b,e_produthelof the most horrible consequences.;
2 Starkie Ev. 513, 6th Am, from a new London ed.. Jt
13 stated in Russell on:crimes, that it, has been holden-
as a rule that no person should.be convicted of murder-
unless the body of the, deceased has been found ; and
 then; after;quoting the language of Lord Hale, he adds:,
225 “ But this rule it/ seems must be taken with some. qual-
~ ifications, and circumstances may be sufficiently. strong;
-~ to show the fact of murder, though the body has never: -
been found.” 1 Russ. on Crimes 567, It is. said by
Chitty, in his Cr. Law, that ‘it is said. to, be ageod
- general rule that; no.man, should be found; guilty. of
murder unless. the body of the deceased is found, be-
cause instances have arisen of persons being executed
for murdering others who have afterwards heen found,
226 to be alive.” But. this rule must be taken rather as a
“caution than ¢ as a ma:um to be. umversally observed,.
_for it would be easy in  many instances so.to. conceal
the body as to prevent 1I: from_ * being discovered.” =1
| "Chltty Cr. Law 758. 2 Ach. Cl,'. plead. 208, Water-.-.
‘man’s ed. The followmg a.utharltles w111 be i@und fuln- -
body cannot be. had t-hat the corpy.e. dglf.ctt m.:w be pm\f&{l
bj circumstantial evldence, where the fucts and cir-



cumsta.nces are so strong as to render it. morally cer- 227
ta,ln and lecwe no ground for rembonable doubt i

Wharton s Am. Law of Homlclde, 316, 317 Burnll
Crx. EV 678, 679, 680-70-117.  Cow. & Hlll’ N0t6$,paltl
1, vol 3 Am, ed., pages 470 4 3 472 502, .3()4 th,:-l,_
tons’ Am, Crim., LdW). pages 284, 285 286 2 Arch. CJ J
Pley & Pr., 134, 135, Water’s ed., Barbour’ . Cr. Lgl‘“ ,;_ __
455, 2d ed.;; U, S. vs: Johns., 1 Wash. C. C. R. 372‘ T ok
State vs, Freer, 1 Bright’s Ohio R 20. U. 8. vs 11-
bert, 2 Sumner’s C. C. R. 27.  Commonwealth vs. Wel,- 228
stery 9, Cush R. 296. \«Vllls on Gll"..EV 185 and 190——;_

In the case of the b S. Vs. Gllbe.rt supra, _]ustlce Stor ﬂ)
ha.vmg, this rule of Lord Hale pressed upon him, Sdld

“The proposiion cannot be admitted as correct in pou;t |

of commaon reason. or. of law, unless courts of Jtlbtlf,e .:ma |

to establish a positive rule to secure persons from puu—
ishment, who.nay be guilty of the most flagitous crimes.”

lo the case of mugders committed.on the ‘high seas, the
body is rarely if ever found, and a. more complete en- 229

couragement and_ protection for the worst oﬂences of
this sort could not be invented than a rule of this e.t;rut-_, _

ness. It would amount to a uuwer&al condonatlon of
all murders cowmmitted, on the high seas, 1 assume,
therefore, ttht the corpus, delict, as well as the guilt of
the prisener, may be proved by circumstantial ewdence.
At is undoubtedly true, ax a general rule, that the d.e,dd

. body ought to be found and mtJentlhed but, l:ke ..;:,ll oth-r ‘
er general rules it has 1ts e‘(ceptmm It hegomeb 1m- 230
' portant then to enqune what are the exceptlona to thm
beneral rule l here 1S NO pmtn ular class Ot Ld’ﬁb‘: fhdt
_can be sald in l.-lw to form an exce ptlon ’j he d»p}._)ll(.{i- |
_tion of the famllmr and well settled rule iu I‘Bgdld tO
dllowmg CLY Ulmbtctutl&l evidence to. prove a fd,ut 18 the
only one that can be T6b0gH1Abd 1n Suuh A, Ga,se fh,at

rule is, that circumstantial evidence can nevet he qiﬁih-‘ -

‘ 'i-..-l'-...,.i' ot L

fmbly ;esm ted to, except where dnet,,t evuleuce L‘:s unat—

7 £ »} *4-.-1-1 L
tddnﬂ,hl&.; Wills on, Cu E V. 47. foan says, (‘l'l(:llm- 231
oIl Yapoar
~stantial. e,ug]eme guﬂ ht.-m n(} L:lnt’-}_}Q !19 J(—’lli_‘(‘] m},._:whele
=2 R ¢ (2

P
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direct and positive evidence, which might have béen'
brought by the prosecutor, is willfully withheld.
Stark ev. 515 WIHS on Clr Ev 47 It is not the'n al-

------

beca’use it 19 politie; but because it is in its dwn nature”

capable of producing the highest' degree of moral cers
tainty in its application.” 1 Stark. Ev. 494, 495. The !

232 mistaken pohcv which led gome of the writers om the”
civil and common law to modlfy their rulesof evidence

o accordmg to the difficulties of proofincident to particu=
lar crimes, and to adopt the execrable maxim that the *
more atrocious was the offence the slighter was the
proof necessary, has no place in the wise common law
prtnclp'leb of evidence as administered in England and

this country. Wills' on Cir.” Ev. 178, 157. 'Thdt o "

consideration of snpposéd expediency is perm1tted to
233 supercede the immutabls obligations ‘of justice, 1s" a
wholéqome maxim of our common law rulés of evie
dence. Wills 118. Many of the continental codes of
Europe prescribe 1mpemt1ve formulas descriptive of"
the kind and of the amount of evidence necessary to
(,onstltute lugal proof. Wills 286, 211. But" the do¢-"
trine is wholl} repndmted by the common law prmm- "
plea of evidence. Tt doeq not attempt to fix with ar lth-

metical exactness a common standard of proof which
234 shall influence with unvarying intensity, and affect the |
| mmds of all men alike. Wills on Cir. Ev.236." The
~ common law pr inciplez of evidence regard such rules;
not” mereh" as harmless and superfluous, but as posi-*
twely pernicious and dangerous to the canse of truth ;
and while they operate as snares for the conscience uf'
the Judge, they are unnecessary for the protection of’
the lnnocent and effective only for thb lmpnmty’ of the‘
_ guﬂty Wills on Cir. Ev. 236, 237. In” strict accor=
235 dancewith these prlnclpleq Mr Starkie, in discussing the'
prlnclples of cir. ev., says: “ What circumestatices will
amount to proof can never he matter of general defini*
tion.  The legal test iz the sufficiency of ‘the evidericés

-i-]'-__
ir ™

. 1"‘
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to satisfy the understanding and conscience of the Jury. -

“ On the one hand absolute metaphysical and demon="
“ strative certainty is not essential to proof by circum-

“ stances. It is sufficient 1f Ehey produce morak certain-< .

“ty to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt.>- 1

Stark Ev. 574. 3 Stark. Ev. 514. See also 1 Cow. & 236
Hill’s Notes 308. - Greenleaf says it is obvious that upon -

this point no precise rule can be laid down except that
the evidence onght to be strong and cogent. 3 Green-

leaf Tv., p. 30,32, Thedoctrine is affirmed by Wills in

the strongest. terms.. Wills on- Cir. Ev. 36, 21, 41, 42,

26, In the case at bar there was no direct evidence of :

the corpus delicti, and as 1t was most evident that none

could be adduced in the case, I am of opinion, for the

reason above stated, that 1 was right in saying to the
Jury that the corpus delicie might be proved by circum-
stantial evidence, where the-evidence 1s so strong and

237

intense as to produce the full certainty of death ; or, in
other words, that the death might be inferred from such

strong and unequivocal circumstances as renders mor-
ally certain and leaves no ground for reasonable doubt.
I cautioned the Jury that before they could  find this

issue against the prisoner; they must be satisfied from

the evidence in the case that it was established by pre-
sumptive evidence of the most cogent and irresistible

238

kind—that it was established by circumstances proved.
so strong and intense as to produce the full certainty, of -
death. ~Under this charge the Jury responded in a ver- .
dict of guilty. It was an impartial verdict upon the ey-
idence in the case, and accorded with my own conyig-
tion of the case, and entertaining the most deliberate:
opinion that no principle of law was violated upon the

trial, and that no lﬂjubtlce was done to the prisoner in
the verdict'of the jury, Lam of opinion that a new trial
should be denied. P

239
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SUPREME COURT.

~ THE PROPLE | i - it
-~ Agt. i e '
EDWARD H. RULLOFF. |

OPINION.:-

H. Gray,J. The'only question presented is as to the
the sufficiency of circumstantial evidence to establish
the criminal act charged in the indictment. |

240 Tt is stated as a rule of law by some elementary
writers of high guthority upon questions of evidence,
that however strong or numerous the circumstan-
ces may be, to establish a fact that a murder has
been' committed, they avail nothing unless the death be:
first ‘distinet]ly proved by inspection of the body. 4th
Blackstone’s Com. 359. Stark on Ev. 3d ed..509. |

This rule originated with Sir Mathew Hale who said
he woiild never convict any person of murder or man-

241 slaughter, unless the fact were proved to be done, or at
least the body found dead for the sake of two cases. @2
Hale’s P.'C. 290." T have examined those cases and al-

thotigh there is much in them calculated to induce
courts to eaution jurors to consider with the greatest

care and scrutiny the evidence submitted for their con-
sideration, to keep in mind the legal presumptions of
innocence, and give the accused the benefit ofievery
reasonable doubt, yet T am not satisfied that they war- -
242 rant a court in declaring, that they will not carry into
execution the verdict of a jury, founded upon evidence
to the admisibility of which there is no possible objec-
tion, and which' comes fully up to the legal test of
proofs in every other case, and nupon every other ques- .
tion that can arise however highly penalthe consequen-
ceg may be. In one of the cases referred to by Lord
Hale two things occurred out of the ordinary course of
legal proceedings, without which a conviction would
243 not have ensued—it. was the well known case of an un-
cle charged with murdering his niece ; he was admon-
ished by the justices before whom he was examined, to |
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337,

find out the child by the next assize ; not being able

to comply with the judicial admonition he feared the

consequence, and to avoid it brought another child like
her in person and years having appareled her like the

true child. The deception was discovered and upon
the presumption arising from the child’s absence ‘and
the fraudulent substitution he was convicted and execu- 244

ted. It was afterwards discovered that the missing
child was living. The melancholy result in that case
may well be attributed to the extraordinary demeanor

of the justices and the accused, and not to any defect
in the rule of evidence adopted. 'The other is a case

given by Lord Hale of @ man being convicted of the
murder of another. The latter had been a long time

missing, and was supposed to have been murdered by 245
the accused, and consumed by him to ashes in an oven;

the accused was convicted and executed, and the latter
returned withina year. It is enough to say of this case
that under the rule now sought to be enforced by the
presecution, properly administered and the accused

i'easiqnab]y well defended, no such conviction could at

this age be had. That there have been other cases of
conviction, where the party supposed to be murdered

was at the time of conviction alive, is undoubtedly 246

true. We are therefore called upon on account of there
having been once perhapsin a century such an instance,
to hold that no conviction can be had, unless the act of
killing be proved by the the evidence of one or more who
saw 1it, or the dead body be found. Should this be

done we should for the same reason where the dead -

body 18 found, hold thatthe crime of killing and the dis-

covéry of the author, could not be established by 'cir-
cumstantial evidence. The danger in the latter case is
fully equal, if not greater than in the former, and in the

247

latter case a twofold evil would be almost necessarily
the'résult,_viz; “the escape of the guilty'and punish-
ment of the innocent.” Past experience has shown
"that very many instances have occurred, in which hon="
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est witnesses have testified positively to a fact which
subsequent developments have shown not to have exist-

ed : verdicts have been the result of evidence given vy
248 pe1Ju1 ed wﬂnw::e-, i elthei case ‘we do not know
whether the Witness speaks the truth, but presume from

the 1easoneblenees of his statement, his deportment upon

the etend and the fact thdt he is not contradicted, or in

any way 1mpea,ched that he has testified truly, and act

- accordingly. Althoumh circumstantial evidence, may
techmcall}, In nome respects be regarded as mf'enor or
secondal y In its Ch&ldbtel it is only so, when it appears
that dlrect ev1dence is withheld, and then only for the

249 purpose of evmdmg the suspicion, that would other-
wise rest upon it, from the mere circumstance that at-
telneble direct ewdeuce is withheld. It has therefore

eometlmes been beld that direct evidence should be first
produced both are certainly more conclusive than

either.

N evérthelebs, such evidence, 1s not in any sense, in-
ferior to direct evidence. Many able jurists have held
that a combmetlou of circumstances so connected with

250 ea,ch other as to form a chain of evidentiary facts, are
more, convmcmg and less liable to suspicion, than what

18 Ordluerlly termed direct evidence.
To secure safety in the admistration of justice, care
18 taken in proportion as the controversy rises in im-

portance, to guard against mistakes and injustice.
In criminal trmls, the interest at stake being greater,

the law has justly thrown around the accused, gual‘ds
against erroneous conclusions to be drawn from evi.

251 dence, Whether direct or circumstantial, which renders
1t necessary that a higher degree of certainty should be
arrived at than in civil cases. No possible objection
can be sustained to the admissibility of circumstantial
ewdence No one upon Jud101al authority doubts its
competency when a death has occurred, to prove not
only that the person was killed ‘without authority of
law, but to 1dent1fy the mur dere1
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Our limited intelligence alone, without the aid of
wisdom derived from the experience of those by whom
rules of evidence have been devised, affords abundant
proof, that no rules of evidence adapted to.the wants 248
of society, by the human mind, are infallible.

Differences of opinion are entertained as to whether
direct or ecircumstantial evidence is least liable to error.

A learned commentator says with great truth ¢ Each
have their peculiar advantages and characteristic dan-
gers.” -Toreject either under all circumstances as in-
sufficiert, would result in the clearest injustice. If falli-

ble minds should reject all evidence not;infallible, there
would be an end to the administration of justice civil 249
or criminal, Necessity has forced upon us rules of ev-
idence, and the protection of civil life is the highest.ob=-
ject of our penal laws: and that to a great extent is ac-
complished by a dread of punishment, and notwithstad-

ing the consequences to-the accused are incalculably
serious, yet it the corpus delicti be established by circum-
stances, which come up to the test of proof so strong
and intense as to convince the understanding and cons=
science of a jury of the full certainty of death, though 250
the dead body be not found, I am unable to discover
upon what principle of justice a court can refuse to pro-
hounce judgment upon the verdict. 3d Geenleaf Ev. p.

32, § 30. |

Mr. Wills in his valuable treatise upon circumstantial
evidence says, that to require the production of the
dead body, in all cases would be unreasonable andlead
to absurdity and injustice, and that the death ma,y.be
inferred from such strong and ungestionable ¢ircum- 251
stances of presumption, as render it reasonably certain
and leave no ground for reasonable doubt. Wills on
Ev. 2,203. Were 1t not so says Bentham, a murderer,
to secure himself with impunity, would have no more
to do, but to consume or decompose the blody, by fire
or lime, or any other known chemical menstrua, or to
sink it in an unfathomable part of the sea. 3d Benth.



jud. Ev. 243." Justice Story in the case of the United
252 States vs. Gilbert and others, 2d Sumner 19, 27, said
of the rule contended for by the counsel for the prison-
er, “it certainly cannot be admitted as correct in point
“of common reason or of law, unless courts of justice
‘““are'to establish a positive rule to screen persons from
“ punishment, who may be guilty of the most flagitious
“crimes. In cases upon the high seas the body is rarely
“if ever found, and a more complete encouragement and
“ protection for the worst of offenders could not be in-
253 “ vented than a rule of this strictness ; it would amount
“to a universal condonation of all murders committed

“on the high seas.”
" The defendant’s child at the time of his trial had

‘been missinig over eleven years, under circumstances
that fully justified the inference that he had put it to
death, and sunk its body and that of its mother in
Cayuga Lake. TIts clothes with those of its mother
were pawned by him at Chicago, soon after the child
254 ‘and mother were missing, under the assumed name of
James H. Revilee: he then said they had died on Illi-
- mois river south of Chicago. The party to whom they
were pawned, not hearing from him opened the trunk
‘eontaining the clothes, and found in it cards inscribed
‘Edward H. Rulloff, and on a separate paper, these
words “Oh that dreadful hour.” Also a lock of hair
labeled either Harriet’s' or Mary’s _hair—the witness
thought Harriet’s. The strong force of circumstances
255 against him pressed him to the proof of his assertion
that his child had died in Illinois, or that it was seen
after the time it was missing. He made no effort to do
either, but reposed himself entirely upon the 1nability
of the "prosecution to produce the dead body of his
¢hild. rad &Y 00
I see no ground for interfering with the verdict.
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OPINION
D. S. Dickinson for the people, Joshua A. Spencer for 256

the defendant. Balcom J. dissenting. The defendant
was convicted of the murder of his infant daughter at
a Circuit Court held in the county of Tioga in
October 1856. He now moves for a new trial upon a
bill of exceptions. It is claimed on the part of the de-
fendant that the judge who presided on the trial, erred
in refusing to instruct that the defendant could not be
convicted of murder for the reason that there was no di-
rect evidence of the death or murder of his infant 257
daughter, and as charging that the jury might infer,
presume and find without direct proof the deathand
murder of the infant daughter,

The proof shows that the defendant’s infant daugh-
ter and its mother disappeared very mysteriously from.
the defendant’s residence in Tompkins county, in June
1845, and that neither of them has since been _feunder:_
heard of, although the most dilig nt search and dili-
oent inquiry have been made for that purpose by the, 258
people of Tompkins county, and the relations of the.
absent danghter and mother on the mother’s s1de The
defendant’s conduct before and at the time the daugh-.

ter and its mother disappeared from his house, and sub-
sequently thereto, was such as to create a very etrong-r
suspicion that they are both dead, and that the.defen-.
dant murdered them, and from such conduct _and other
facts and circumstances disclosed by the evidence in the
case, the jury have found that the. defendant 18 guilty' 259
of the crime of murderlng his daughter, for which only
he was tried. The evidence is such that it is barelyh

possible, though highly lmPTGbabk that the defendant’s
daughter is still alive.. It is however so strong against

THE PY%OPLE }
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the defendant on every point, which ‘1t was necessary

for the people to establish to show him guilty, that if a

conviction for murder should be allowed in any case,
~ without certain evidence that the person supposed to
260 be murdered is dead, we ought not to disturb the find- -
ing of the jury that he is guilty. Should a conviction
for murder be permitted in any case, without direct and
certain evidence ‘that the person is dead, whom it is
supposed has been murdered, is the only question pre-
sented for our consideration in this case.

Tt is settled both upon principle and authority that
the dead body of the murde ed person need not always
be found toauthorize a conviction of the accused. Proof

261 that'the prisoner threw a person overboard from a ves-
sel at sea, under such circumstances that 1t was Impos-
sible for him to escape drowning, has been held suffi-
cient evidence of the death of the person so thrown
overboard to warrant a conviction of the prisoner,
without finding the dead body; so proof that the pris-
oner had cast a person into a blazing furnace from
which he could not escape the heat thereof being suffi-
cient to entirely consume the body, would render it un-

962 necessary for the prosecutor to give evidence of the
finding of the dead body of the person thus destroyed:
Thé evidence in such cases being direct and certain,
that the absent or missing person is dead establishes
the basis of the corpus delicti, and then whether the
throwing the pérson' into the sea, or casting him 1nto *
a blazing furnace was murder, or manslaughter, or done
in self defence, may be inferred from circumstances.
The rule laid down by Lord Hale, was that he * never

263 would convict any person of murder or manslaughter
unless the fact be proved to be done or at least the body
found dead,” and judges have seldom violated this rule
Without committing judicial murder. It 1snotto be
denied that innocent persons have been convicted of
murder when the dead bodies of the murdered persons

were found, but this fact should admonish us against
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relaxing  Lord Hale’s rule, instead of inducing us to
sustgun a, conywtmn where, conceding that all the wit-
nesses, WhQse testimony 1s relied upon,  to. estabhsh the 264
death of the absent, person, supposed, to be murdered,
have told the truth the whole truth and nothing but the
truth and still 1t be possible that such person 1s living.

[ cannot concur in establishing the doctrine that human

life may be taken for an alleged murder when the con-
clusion that a murder has been committed, 1s drawn
from the sudden and unaccountable disappearance and
long continued absence of the person supposed to be
murdered, or from other circumstances which ma y all 269
be true, and yet no homicide have been committed by
any person. The evidence that the person whom it is
alleged has been murdered is dead must be certain, and

1t must be such as to leave no room for the existence of
any doubt whatever that sucb person is dead before a
conviction for the murder of such person can be safel y
permitted. It will not do to presume from circumstan-=

ces that an absent person 1s dead, and then build a fur-
ther presumption upon it, that such person has been 266
murdered. Persons accused of murder must be proved

to be guilty by certain and rehiable evidence before they

can be lawfully executed. The case must be such as to
exclude to a moral certainty, every other hypothesis
but that of the guilt of the party accused. The case
does not do this when there 1s the least uncertainty as

to whether the person alleged to be murdered is dead.

It is 1infinitely better for society that guilty persons
should sometimes escape deserved punishment than for 267
the courts to establish a precedent that may be used to
deprive innocent persons of life.

I cannot concur in sustaining the verdict in this case,
because the evidence is such that 1t is possible that
the detendant’s daughter may be living. That it is ex-
tremely improbable that she is living will not do. TlLe
ovidence must be cerfain that she 1s dead, before the de-
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fendant can be lawfully convicted. 1 think the judge
268 should have instructed the jury to acquit the defendant,
- ‘and that for his refusal to do so the verdict should be
cet aside, and a new trial granted to the defendant to
be had at the Tioga circmit,



